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City of Moreton Bay is proud to present its Annual Report for the financial year to 30 June 2024.

This report demonstrates our commitment to open, transparent and accountable governance. 
It outlines Council’s operational and financial performance for the year against the goals, plans, 
strategies and priorities within our Corporate Plan 2022–27 and the 2023-24 Budget.

Acknowledgements
Council thanks all the contributors involved in the development of this document.

Accessing this report
This report is available on our website at moretonbay.qld.gov.au/annualreport. You can also 
access a hard copy of the report at one of our Customer Service Centres located at Redcliffe, 
Caboolture, Strathpine or at any one of our 10 libraries.

Council wants your feedback 
Your Say Moreton Bay is an online engagement platform where you can share your ideas and 
provide feedback on Council projects that matter to you. Visit yoursay.moretonbay.qld.gov.au.

City of Moreton Bay 

moretonbay.qld.gov.au

council@moretonbay.qld.gov.au 

(07) 3205 0555 

PO Box 159 Caboolture QLD 4510

Cover image: Celebrating community spirit at Caboolture Family Fun Day, Centenary Lakes.
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As we celebrate our first year as the City 
of Moreton Bay and following the recent 
2024 local government elections, I am 
honoured to be re-elected as Mayor of City 
of Moreton Bay, alongside a committed 
and experienced team of Councillors.  

Becoming a city has been a 
significant milestone, not just in 
name, but in the meaningful progress 
we’ve achieved together.  

This past year has been pivotal in shaping 
our future. With our population projected 
to reach 1 million in under 40 years, 
our strategic planning and innovative 
polycentric city model has positioned us to 
embrace growth while preserving the unique 
character of our diverse communities.  

The development of Waraba, one of our 
12 growth fronts, demonstrates Council’s 
commitment to addressing South 
East Queensland’s housing challenges 
while fostering local opportunities. 

Our achievements over the past year 
are the result of collaboration across our 
communities, all levels of government, 
industry, and business. Through partnerships 
with the state and federal governments, 
we’ve delivered critical infrastructure, 
including major intersection improvements, 
rehabilitation of key connecting roads and 
vital upgrades to facilities like the South Pine 
Sports Complex and Kinsella Sports Complex. 

In 2023-24, we made significant progress 
toward the Project Validation Report 

for the Moreton Bay Indoor Sports Centre. 
As a result, City of Moreton Bay is set to 
gain a $205.5 million state-of-the-art 
legacy sporting facility, which will also 
serve as a key venue for the Brisbane 2032 
Olympic and Paralympic Games. We also 
successfully advocated for transformative 
projects under the SEQ City Deal Liveability 
Fund, including a new building at Suttons 
Beach, a splash park and boardwalks at 
Centenary Lakes and the activation of The 
Mill Lakes precinct. These projects reflect 
our vision for a vibrant and liveable city. 

Our environment also remains at the 
heart of our vision as we balance 
economic progress with a commitment to 
sustainability and community wellbeing. 
From upgrading waste management 
facilities to introducing garden organic 
waste collection, and committing to net zero 
emissions by 2039 for Council operations 
while preserving 75% of landmass as green 
space, we are going green as we grow.  

In 2023-24, we delivered a $264 million capital 
works program, focusing on delivering the 
infrastructure we need while creating local 
jobs and improving the long-term wellbeing 
of our communities. As part of this program, 
the Redcliffe Library underwent extensive 
renovations, transforming it into an inclusive 
and modern hub. I am particularly proud of 

Message from 						    
the Mayor
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Mayor Peter Flannery 
City of Moreton Bay

the new Changing Places facility, the first of 
its kind in a public library in Queensland. 

As we reflect on this past year, I’m also 
proud to highlight the vibrancy of our events 
calendar, which offered a wide variety of 
free and affordable entertainment and 
activities for residents and visitors. Our 
libraries, galleries and museums continued 
to delight and engage the community, 
offering over 12,600 public programs 
and events. Additionally, our Healthy 
and Active Moreton program delivered 
more than 4,000 sessions, supporting and 
encouraging healthier lifestyles across 
our city. Our major venues and aquatic 
centres also saw an increase in visitation. 

Community safety remains a priority for 
Council, as reflected in our investment in 
an expanding CCTV network over the past 
year. We also launched the Active School 
Travel program, to enhance the safety 
and accessibility of school commutes. 

We also recognise the challenges faced by 
our community, particularly in addressing 
homelessness. While the responsibility lies 
with other levels of government, Council has 
taken proactive steps, including waiving 
development fees for affordable housing, 
providing land for community support 
services, and starting construction on the 
new Peninsula Community Support Hub.  

In December 2023, Council introduced 
a suite of 13 new Local Laws, 
developed after extensive community 
consultation to better reflect the 
evolving needs of our communities.  

During the year, we also sought community 
feedback on our Better Housing Amendment, 

proposing a range of updates to the Planning 
Scheme to address residents' concerns 
and ensure Moreton Bay remains a great 
place to live as our population grows. 

These are just two examples of how 
community input shapes our city’s 
planning, services, facilities and amenities. 
We encourage residents to engage 
with Council through various channels 
including our Your Say Moreton Bay 
platform and the Moreton Says survey. 

Council’s continued focus on investment 
attraction and event sponsorship programs 
generated an estimated economic impact 
of $243.5 million and supported the 
creation of 896 full time equivalent jobs. 

As we look ahead, I am confident that our 
city’s future is bright. In June 2024, we adopted 
a record $922 million Budget for 2024-25, 
focused on alleviating everyday cost pressures 
alongside a strong commitment to laying 
sustainable foundations for the future. 

The past 12 months have shown what can 
be achieved, when a stable and committed 
team has a strong vision and innovative ideas, 
complemented by a collaborative approach.  

This annual report highlights the 
achievements of the past year, and I would 
like to extend my deepest gratitude to our 
Council staff, my fellow Councillors, and 
the entire Moreton Bay community for your 
unwavering support and commitment to our 
shared vision. Together, we are building a 
living city that not only matters today but will 
continue to matter for generations to come.

.
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Chief Executive 
Officer’s report
It is a pleasure to present this report during a 
period of unique challenges and opportunities 
for our growing city.

Reflecting on the 2023-24 financial year, with 
approximately 240 new residents joining our 
city weekly, our Council navigated ongoing 
price increases, a housing crisis, supply chain 
challenges, and ongoing skilled recruitment 
shortages. Despite these challenges, the 
Council’s administration has successfully 
delivered essential services and major 
infrastructure projects, maintaining a high 
standard of operations while fostering growth 
and resilience.

It was an absolute highlight to induct the 
Mayor and our 12 Councillors following the 
March 2024 local government elections. The 
election demonstrated the success of the 
Council, with our Mayor being returned on 
an uncontested basis and all Councillors 
returned with the exception of the retirement 
of Councillor Mick Gillam who served the 
community with distinction for over 30 years. 

With the retirement of Councillor Gillam, 

Councillor Jim Moloney is welcomed for his 

first term of service for our community. The 
newly inducted Council is energised to deliver 
for City of Moreton Bay through the lens of 
both experience and stability as we move 
forward into the new term.

Delivering our 
Corporate Plan
This year marks the second year of the city’s 
five-year Corporate Plan, which commenced 
on 1 July 2022. The Corporate Plan serves as 
our guiding compass, directing resources 
towards delivering what matters most to 
our communities. During the year, Council 
continued to deliver 45 key initiatives, with 
key milestones including the adoption of our 
Reconciliation Action Plan. 

8 8



Our Operational Plan key priority actions 
(KPAs) and performance indicators (KPIs) 
showed strong performance, with 94% either 
on track or on watch within a challenging 
operating environment, influenced by nation-
wide trends continuing to have an impact on 
our operations and project delivery. You can 
find more details on our progress in this  
Annual Report.

Planning for growth
As our Council proudly transitioned into 
our new status as City of Moreton Bay, we 
continued our work on aligning our strategies 
and plans to meet the evolving needs of our 
growing communities and our vision. This 
milestone marks a significant step forward, 
bringing both exciting opportunities and  
new responsibilities.

Our shared future provides a unique 
opportunity to design and deliver a new 
city model, one that continues to protect 
the qualities that make City of Moreton Bay 
distinctive, while focusing on what a well-
planned, modern, and innovative city  
can achieve.

The Council’s focus on robust community 
engagement remained a cornerstone of  
our planning efforts, ensuring residents’  
voices were an integral part of our  
decision-making processes. There are many 

ways Council engages our community 
including through our Moreton Says 
survey program.

As the city continues to grow, it’s more 
important than ever to ensure the 
sustainability of our operations, that’s why 
we are working towards our goal of net zero 
carbon emissions for Council operations  
by 2039.

Financial performance 
and project delivery
Maintaining long-term financial stability 
continued to underpin Council’s ability to 
meet its obligations and community 
expectations in 2023-24. Council has worked 
hard to deliver sound financial performance 
with a $191 million net result. 

Despite continued supply chain delays 
and resource constraints, Council successfully 
implemented a $264 million capital program 
this year. This achievement underscores 
our commitment to advancing critical 
infrastructure and enhancing community 
assets, ensuring we continue to deliver on 
what our communities need and support 
the city’s growth and development. 
From roads and footpaths to facility 
upgrades, we remain sustainable in 
project delivery and within budget. 
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Building resilience
We have demonstrated ongoing progress in 
building a more resilient city as we know our 
Council and our community will continue to 
experience the impact of natural hazards. 
Working closely with State Government 
agencies, we continue to leverage disaster 
funding arrangements to recover over $90 
million of costs incurred due to the 2022 severe 
rainfall event and ex-Tropical Cyclone Kirrily 
severe rain event on 30 January 2024.

The Voluntary Home Buy Back program 
has successfully purchased 56 flood-
affected homes approved by Queensland 
Reconstruction Agency, totalling a further $27.3 
million of expenditure supported by the State 
Government. All these measures help to build 
resilience in our community as we continue to 
‘build back better’.

As the housing crisis continues to impact 
communities nationwide, Council has taken 
proactive steps to address homelessness 
within our city. While funding for social 
housing remains the remit of other levels 
of government, Council has the most direct 
interactions with the community and as such 
has an important role to play. City of Moreton 
Bay has adopted a comprehensive Housing 
and Homelessness Plan focused on providing 
immediate relief and long-term solutions.

Council’s initiatives this year have included 
offering land and infrastructure charge 

waivers to support the development of social 
and affordable housing, partnering with 
community housing providers, and advocating 
to the State Government for greater investment 
in social housing and homelessness services. By 
working collaboratively with stakeholders, we 
are tackling this critical issue with compassion 
and determination, striving to create a more 
inclusive and supportive community for all.

Reconciliation in action
It is extremely pleasing to have moved forward 
in our journey of reconciliation with the 
adoption of our first Innovate Reconciliation 
Action Plan (RAP). The RAP was informed by 
local stakeholders and Reconciliation Australia. 
With the appointment of a dedicated RAP 
Implementation Officer and an internal 
working group, Council is moving forward. 
I know the real work is in implementation - 
delivering on what we say we will do and 
building mutual respect and trust with our 
communities.

I sincerely thank the Traditional Owner 
representatives of the Jinibara, Kabi Kabi, and 
Turrbal peoples, and community Elders for their 
invaluable insights and stories that shaped 
our RAP and long-term reconciliation journey. 
We are delighted to work with Jenny Kent from 
Manamana Dreaming and thank her for her 
beautiful artwork that captures the resilience, 
diversity and vibrancy of our city.
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Future focused council
As Moreton Bay evolves, our administration is 
committed to transforming our organisational 
structure to meet the demands of a 
contemporary city council. This transformation 
is essential to ensure we continue to provide 
exceptional services, foster sustainable 
growth, and enhance the quality of life for 
our communities.

This year saw further investment in our people 
with the launch of our new Employee Value 
Proposition: Your Future City - See It. Shape 
It. Live It. This initiative will help to reinforce 
what it means to work for City of Moreton 
Bay and will be used to continue to attract a 
talented workforce. It was pleasing to see the 
organisation grow to 2,181 employees by 30 
June 2024. Turnover has decreased over the 
past 12 months and remains well within the 
average of SEQ councils. City of Moreton Bay 
continues to be an employer of choice, due 
to its community connection, vision, growth 
and opportunity, stability of employment, and 
contemporary work life balance.

Safety is our top priority at City of Moreton 
Bay. To enhance our safety focus, we’ve 
implemented a new safety reporting system 
called Incident, Risk, and Injury (management) 
System (IRIS). IRIS improves our ability to report 
and learn from health and safety hazards, 
incidents and risks. Our goal is to ensure all 
staff and contractors can perform their duties 
safely and can return home to their loved ones 
at the end of every day.

By embracing innovative practices and 
streamlining our operations, we aim to build 
a resilient and forward-thinking council that is 
equipped to handle governance complexities 
in a modern urban environment. Together, we 
will shape a vibrant future for Moreton Bay as 
a leading city.

As CEO, I would personally like to commend our 
team members for their dedication to serving 
the Moreton Bay community and our Mayor 
and Councillors for their vision and leadership. 
It is a privilege to be part of such a capable 
team who put the community and this city at 
the heart of everything we do. 

Scott Waters
Chief Executive Officer



The living city
City of Moreton Bay is Australia’s newest 
city, in the heart of South East Queensland. 
Amidst natural beauty and a unique lifestyle, 
City of Moreton Bay emerges as a testament 
to modern city living.

Originally formed through the State 
Government’s amalgamation of three 
existing local government areas - City of 
Redcliffe, Pine Rivers and Caboolture Shires, 
this vibrant region was officially awarded city 
status in 2023, marking a significant milestone 
in its history. The new city carries a legacy of 
transformative growth. Its foundations were 
built upon a council known for its ambition 
and proactive approach. 

Our city covers a land area of more than 
2,045 square kilometres, and we are one of 
the largest and fastest growing council areas 
in Australia. Over the next 30 years or so, an 
additional 500,000 people are expected to 
call City of Moreton Bay home. 

The Moreton Bay area has been home to 
the Kabi Kabi, Jinibara and Turrbal peoples 
for tens of thousands of years, and today’s 
polycentric city is home to many communities 
from a wide range of cultural backgrounds. 
We welcome increasing numbers of visitors 
and residents from all parts of Australia and 
around the world. 

Nestled between unspoiled beaches and 
captivating hinterlands, our city offers a 
lifestyle unlike any other, where nature and 

lifestyle serve as a backdrop to a community 
that embraces the importance of preserving 
and cherishing the environment while 
redefining what a city can be. 

As we look towards the future, we aim 
to capitalise on the 2032 Olympics and 
Paralympics and seize this window of 
opportunity to propel our city forward and 
create a lasting legacy. 

With our enviable gateway location and 
growing population, City of Moreton Bay 
is ideally placed to strengthen its position 
as the engine room of the South East 
Queensland economy. Our proximity to 
key transport infrastructure provides direct 
access to domestic and global markets 
including New Zealand and South East Asia, 
supporting our ability to attract investment, 
tourism and other economic opportunities. 
We are right in the middle of it all.

City of Moreton Bay stands as a testament 
to a journey fuelled by progress and 
possibilities. With its rich history and Council’s 
unwavering determination, it continues to 
redefine urban living, fostering a thriving 
community where residents, stakeholders, 
businesses, and the environment flourish.

Welcome to the City of Moreton Bay - 
The Living City. Where the past shapes 
the present, and the future is filled with 
boundless opportunity.
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*Source: ABS 2023, ABS ERP 2023, NIEIR 2023, ShapingSEQ 2023

Our city’s snapshot

More than 500,000
Population

(approaching 800,000 by 2046)

3rd largest
Local government in  

Australia by population 

3rd largest 
Local government in 

Australian by number 
of dwellings 

(188,100 in 2021 plus an 
additional 125,800 by 2046)

Top 10 fastest 
growing

Local government in  
Australia by population
(2022-23 - 13,330 people or 2.7%)

294km 
Coastline and 

estuaries

2,045km2

Land area

14,000+ha 

Reserves and  
local parks

3,806km
Roads

94.4%
Residents in the labour 

force are employed

39 years
Median resident age

3.9%
Resident who identify 

as Aboriginal or 
Torres Strait Islander

49.5% 
Resident workers live 
and work in the city

163,228
Local jobs 

4.6 million+ 
Visitors each year

31,803 
Registered businesses

$22 billion+ 

Local economy
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We value Service, Teamwork, Integrity, Respect, Sustainability

Vision and Corporate Plan
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Our Roadmap

Our roadmap is structured around five 
strategic pillars that work together to 
achieve our vision. The pillars support our 
commitment to delivering a balanced plan 
that will help to create a sustainable and 
liveable future for our city. Each pillar includes 
a goal and outcomes that set our strategic 
direction. It also identifies the key strategies 
and plans, key initiatives and service areas 
that will help drive our goals and outcomes 
over the next five years and beyond.

Our Values 

Our values define how we work together and with others.  

Our Vision 

Our Moreton Bay. Amazing places. Natural spaces.

SERVICE TEAMWORK INTEGRITY RESPECT SUSTAINABILITY

We seek to  
understand the 
needs of those  

we serve

We strive to exceed 
expectations

We communicate 
clearly

We take a positive 
approach

We are proud 
 to serve our  
community

We promote a  
friendly, supportive 
work environment

We inspire and  
encourage innovation

We develop and 
maintain  

relationships

We work collectively 
to achieve common 

goals

We work  
collaboratively with 
our community and 

external partners

We are ethical  
and honest 

We take  
responsibility for 

our actions

We act within  
statute and law

We take pride in the 
manner in which we 
perform our duties

We listen to people

We treat people 
fairly and  

consistently

We embrace  
diversity and  

opinions

We treat others 
as we wish to be 

treated

We focus on 
the future

We respect the 
environment

We demonstrate 
leadership by  

example

Our vision, roadmap 
 and values

15



Key projects

Council-funded key projects for 2023-24
•	 $7.6 million for upgrades at the Dakabin Waste Management Facility  

•	 $4 million for the construction of the City of Moreton Bay Depot at Narangba 

•	 $4 million for upgrades to the Woodford Waste Transfer Station  

•	 $3.7 million for the intersection upgrade at Sparkes Road and Ellis Street, Lawnton 

•	 $3 million for soccer field upgrades at Moreton Bay Central Sports Complex, Burpengary 

•	 $2.7 million towards the Suttons Beach Pavilion Redevelopment Project  

•	 $2.4 million for drainage upgrades to Colo Street, Arana Hills 

•	 $2.3 million for upgrades to Redcliffe Library 

•	 $2.2 million for the renewal of Albany Creek Skate Park 

•	 $2.2 million for lighting renewal and building remediation works at Queensland State 

Equestrian Centre (QSEC), Caboolture 	

•	 $1.6 million for road rehabilitation works at Moreton Downs Drive, Deception Bay 

•	 $1.4 million for drainage upgrades to Grevillea Street, Everton Hills 

•	 $1.4 million for soccer field renewal and extension at James Drysdale Reserve, Bunya 	

•	 $1.3 million Sandy Street Drainage Channel Upgrade Work, Beachmere 

•	 $1.1 million for the construction of a car park at Bribie Island Sports Complex, Bongaree  

These figures represent Council expenditure for the 2023-24 financial year.
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Jointly funded projects
Collaborating with state and federal governments remains vital for City of Moreton Bay to 
secure necessary infrastructure to support the city’s growth and maintain residents’ quality of 
life. Council is a trusted delivery partner and in the 2023-24 financial year, we have obtained $71 
million in additional funding from state and federal governments, aligned with our Advocacy 
Plan 2021-24. This funding has allowed Council to undertake new projects and revitalise existing 
facilities beyond what our regular capital budget would cover. Advocating to other levels of 
government who collect 97% of tax revenue is crucial to ensure Moreton Bay taxpayers receive a 
fair share of taxation revenue reinvested in their community.

Jointly funded projects completed or underway in 2023-24 include:
•	 $25.9 million for upgrades to the South Pine Sports Complex, Brendale, with a contribution of 

$500,000 from the Federal Government

•	 $21.7 million for the Henry Road and Dohles Rocks Road reconstruction at Griffin with a 
contribution of $4 million from the Federal Government

•	 $12.1 million for the intersection upgrade at Klingner Road and Boardman Road, Kippa Ring, 
with a contribution of $6.3 million from the state and federal governments

•	 $15.1 million for the intersection upgrade at Old Gympie Road and Boundary Road, Dakabin, 
with a contribution of $2.4 million from the Federal Government

•	 $4.3 million for the intersection upgrade at South Pine Road and Plucks Road, Arana Hills, with 
a contribution of $3 million from the Federal Government

•	 $2.55 million for the rehabilitation of section of Mount Nebo Road, Mount Nebo, with a 
contribution of $2 million from the Federal Government

•	 $2.1 million for the renewal of netball courts at KR Benson Park, Clontarf, with a contribution of 
$1.3 million from the State Government

•	 $1.4 million from the State Government for park upgrades at Sylvan Beach Boat Ramp 
Precinct, Bellara

•	 $1.1 million for the road rehabilitation at Michael Avenue, Morayfield, with a contribution of  
$1.1 million from the Federal Government

•	 $1 million for seating upgrades at Kinsella Sports Complex, North Lakes, with a contribution of 
$940,000 from the State Government

•	 $1 million for active transport improvements along Cabbage Tree Creek, with a contribution 
of $800,000 from the State Government

These figures represent the total expenditure for the project across multiple years.

17New netball courts at KR Benson Park, Clontarf.
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Major Venues 

Sport & Recreation

Community Grants & 
Partnerships

Community Leasing

Community Services 

Public Health

Local Laws

Cemeteries

Environmental 
Services 

Environmental 
Centres

Customer Services 

Libraries 

Galleries

Heritage and 
Museums

Public Space Permits

Waste Services 

Project Management 

Asset Maintenance 

Disaster Management

Public Safety

Construction & 
Cleansing 

Fleet Services 

Roads & Drainage 
Maintenance

Parks & Reserve 
Maintenance 

Waterbody 
Maintenance 

Fire Management 

Buildings & Facilities  
Maintenance 

Major Projects  
(Petrie Mill)

Technical Services 

Asset Management 

Capital & Operational 
Program Planning 

Surveying & Cadastral 
Services

Development 
Assessment 

Developer 
Contributed 
Infrastructure

Infrastructure 
Charging & 
Agreements

Building Certification

Building & 
Development 
Compliance

Plumbing Assessment  
& Compliance

Planning Scheme

Regional Planning

Neighbourhood 
Planning

Growth Areas 
Planning

Urban Design

Natural Hazards 
Planning

Sustainability 
Planning

Biodiversity Planning

Heritage Policy 
Planning

Growth Monitoring

Wellbeing & Safety 

Financial Accounting 

Financial Services 

Procurement 

Community 
Engagement 

Information & 
Communication 
Technology 

Digital 
Transformation

Governance 

Executive Services 

Transport Planning 

Civil Design 

Traffic Management 

Active Transport 
Planning 

Strategic 
Infrastructure 
Planning 

Parks & Recreation 
Planning 

Landscape Design 

Complete Streets 

Drainage & 
Waterways Planning 

Floodplain Modelling 

Coastal Infrastructure 
Planning

Buildings & Facilities  
Planning 

Property Services 

Commercial Leasing

Joshua O’Keefe 
Chief External  

Relations Officer 

Internal Audit

People and Culture

Paul Martins 
Chief Economic  

Development Officer

Kate Draper 
Chief Legal Counsel

Our team
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Services 

David Corkill 
Director 

 

Planning

Donna Gregory
Director 

 

Finance & Corporate 
Services 

Dan Staley 
Acting Director

 Infrastructure 
Planning



Our Vibrant 
Communities 

Our goal

Our Moreton Bay will have vibrant communities that proudly 
come together to participate in and celebrate different cultures 
and life experiences, with access to the services and facilities 
they need.

Our outcomes
1.	 Our communities make healthy and active lifestyle choices and have access to the services 

and facilities they need. 

2.	 Our communities are safe and resilient so that in times of adversity our people and places 
are supported.

3.	 Our communities embrace opportunities for participation in creative experiences and 
celebrate our stories, cultures and identities.

4.	 We have respectful, inclusive and engaged communities that value diversity and sustain 
connections to people and places.
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Outcomes update 2023-24

Outcome Status

Our communities make healthy and active lifestyle choices and have 
access to the services and facilities they need.

•  On track

Our communities are safe and resilient so that in times of adversity  
our people and places are supported.

•  On watch

Our communities embrace opportunities for participation in creative 
experiences and celebrate our stories, cultures and identities. 

•  On track

We have respectful, inclusive and engaged communities that value 
diversity and sustain connections to people and places. 

•  On track
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Wish you were here, 2024. An exhibition by Kellie O’Dempsey at Redcliffe Art 
Gallery. Photography by Louis Lim.



Holistic approach to housing and homelessness
Homelessness is a complex challenge impacting communities right across Australia and the 
world. The number of people experiencing homelessness and housing stress in the city is rapidly 
increasing.

Although it remains the state and Federal Governments' responsibility, we recognise the need to 
provide action now, which is why in December 2023, we launched a comprehensive new Housing 
and Homelessness Action Plan. This plan sets a strategic direction for Council’s response over 
for the next five years. The plan aims to address housing insecurity and homelessness at a local 
level through a collaborative approach with government entities, community housing sectors, 
and local homelessness support services. It focuses on delivering immediate and medium-
term solutions to ensure that everyone in our community has access to appropriate, safe and 
affordable housing. 

We continue to advocate to the state and federal governments for the provision and funding for 
appropriate housing and homelessness support services, facilitate where possible the provision 
of community housing options, and work in close partnership with specialist services in order to 
effectively respond to local issues.

Recent highlights include: 

•	 Council’s contribution of $3.36 million (plus $3 million from the State Government) to the 
construction of the new $6.36 million Peninsula Support Hub in Redcliffe, which will house 
services that support people experiencing homelessness and housing stress. 

•	 Advocating to both the state and federal governments for urgent expansion of crisis and 
transitional housing, social housing, and additional specialist homelessness support services. 
This advocacy has resulted in commitments from the State Government for:

•	 A Youth Foyer in City of Moreton Bay to give young people aged 16 to 25 years access to 
stable housing in a supported living environment;

•	 $6 million over three years towards a Homelessness Health Outreach Team;

•	 A Critical Response team supporting people sleeping in public spaces;

•	 Additional social housing for the city.

•	 Commencement of the Social, Affordable, and Crisis Housing Leasing Expression of Interest 
process for Council owned land in Caboolture and Morayfield, to registered Community 
Housing Providers and Specialist Homelessness Services to build and manage crisis, social 
and affordable housing.

•	 Over $1 million in infrastructure charges and development application fees waived or 
deferred since 2022, for the development of social and affordable housing built within 
identified priority areas as part of Council’s Attraction of Social Affordable Housing Policy.

By taking a holistic approach and working closely with community organisations and other levels 
of government, we have fostered meaningful partnerships and innovative projects to improve 
outcomes for people experiencing housing insecurity and homelessness in Moreton Bay.
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Key highlights 2023-24

Tovertafel (Magic Table) Installations - Libraries 
Council completed the installation of Tovertafels (Magic Tables) at Caboolture, Strathpine, 
North Lakes and Redcliffe Libraries through a partnership with the State Library of Queensland. 
This technology provides the social, sensory, cognitive and physical benefits of purposeful play 
to those living with dementia, cognitive disabilities, and neurodiversity. Libraries are working 
towards dementia friendly accreditation through the delivery of programs to the community 
utilising the Tovertafels and most Library staff have received dementia awareness training.

Mobile CCTV network 
Council deployed 175 mobile CCTV units across the city to continue and support the expansion 
of the CCTV network. This program improved public safety by supporting the detection of crime, 
misconduct and disorder across the city, and protecting Council’s assets.  

All the Best, from Martin Edge - Exhibition at Pine Rivers Art Gallery 

The exhibition was held from December 2023 to March 2024 and celebrated 15 years of 
practice by Strathpine artist Martin Edge, a painter who has earned national and international 
recognition and is a proud ambassador for Autism Queensland. The gallery was transformed 
into an immersive and inclusive space which featured tactile artworks, audio labels, a designated 
quiet room and augmented reality opportunities. The exhibition doubled visitation during the 
December to March period and 92% of visitors who identified as being neurodivergent rated the 
exhibition as excellent.

23
All the best, from Martin Edge, 2024. Pine Rivers Art Gallery. 
Photography by Haline Ly.
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Walking Through a Songline - Exhibition at Redcliffe Museum 

Redcliffe Museum hosted the National Museum of Australia’s internationally acclaimed 
exhibition, ‘Walking through a Songline’ which attracted 3,249 visitors. This exhibition provided an 
opportunity for Council to partner with local First Nations people and organisations to deepen 
cultural connections. Workshops throughout the year included bush tucker and weaving and 
Aboriginal Elders sharing knowledge through yarning circles and walking tours.   

Monster Siege Adventure Days - Cultural Activation Team free creative program 
Council programmed the Monster Siege Adventure Days as free creative participation days for 
families in the Easter school holidays, attracting over 580 participants over two days. The event 
was designed to give residents a taste of the programs in Council venues and featured a range of 
hands-on creative activities.  A pop-up gallery, library and museum provided creative experiences 
to the community from the South Pine Indoor Sports Centre. The day culminated in a theatrical 
game where kids competed with their parents. 82% of participants agreed that based on their 
experiences they would visit one of Council’s galleries, libraries or museums.

Peninsula Support Hub – Commencement of construction 

Council commenced construction of the new Peninsula Support Hub during the year. Co-funded 
by City of Moreton Bay and the State Government, the Peninsula Support Hub will provide a 
service delivery hub for people experiencing homelessness and other vulnerabilities across the 
Redcliffe Peninsula. Once complete, the Peninsula Support Hub will assist the two key tenants, 
The Breakfast Club Redcliffe Inc. and Salvation Army, to deliver coordinated centre-based 
services to people experiencing homelessness, expediting their transition into appropriate 
housing and support.

Walking Through a Songline marquee digital experience. Image courtesy National Museum of Australia and Mosster Studio.
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Measures of success update 2023-24

Increased satisfaction with the sport and recreation opportunities provided by Council 
Satisfaction with sport and recreation venues provided by Council

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
3.4 out of 5 
(2022-23)

3.6 out of 5
(2023-24)

Moreton Says Survey 
August 2023

The proportion of residents who were satisfied with Council’s sport and recreation venues increased marginally 
in 2023-24. This may be attributable to Council’s continued investment in high quality sport and recreation 
infrastructure and growth in the delivery of programs such as Healthy and Active Moreton and Active Holidays.

Increased sense of community safety and wellbeing 
Satisfaction with feelings of community safety 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch
3.6 out of 5
(2022-23)

3.2 out of 5
(2023-24)

Moreton Says Survey 
August 2023

Residents’ perceptions of community safety decreased in 2023-24 compared to the baseline year. This may 
be attributable to higher incidents and media reporting of crime, rising cost of living pressures, increases in 
some crime indicators and the emergence of higher levels of public space camping by people experiencing 
homelessness in parts of the city. 

Increased satisfaction with arts and cultural activities provided by Council  
Satisfaction with arts and cultural programs and events provided by Council 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
3.4 out of 5 
(2022-23)

3.5 out of 5
(2023-24)

Moreton Says Survey 
August 2023

The proportion of residents who were satisfied with Council’s arts and cultural events and programs through 
our galleries, museums, and libraries increased in 2023-24. 94% of event and program attendees reported high 
levels of satisfaction. Increased awareness of arts and cultural activities also increased visitation to Council 
venues. 

Increased satisfaction with accessibility of public spaces, facilities and services  
Satisfaction with the accessibility of public spaces, facilities, and services

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  No update available Not yet established No update available Moreton Says Survey

A baseline for this measure will be established through a community-wide survey (planned for 2024-25). 

Increased sense of community belonging   
Satisfaction with feelings of sense of belonging

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch
3.8 out of 5
(2021-22)

3.6 out of 5
(2023-24)

Moreton Says Survey 
August 2023

The proportion of residents who feel a sense of belonging in the city marginally decreased in 2023-24 compared 
to the baseline year. It is noted, however, that in the 2023 Moreton Say Survey, 74% of respondents felt a sense of 
pride with being a member of their community. 
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Increased portion of residents having a personal emergency management plan    
Share of residents identifying as having a personal emergency plan (either written down or discussed 
with others)

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 33% (2021-22) No update available
Moreton Says Survey 
August 2023

The November 2021 Moreton Says survey established the baseline for this indicator. In addition to having a 
personal emergency plan, 50% of residents reported having an emergency kit (including a torch, batteries, 
radio, important documents, etc). Although no survey data was available for 2023-24, Council’s MoretonAlert 
subscribers increased from 70,176 to 76,291 in 2023-24, an increase of 6,115 or 9% over the year and double the 
increase seen in 2022-23. 

Key initiatives update 2023-24  

1.1
Traditional Custodians Engagement Framework     
Develop an engagement framework with local Traditional Custodians to grow 
cultural understanding and connections. 

•  On track

Initial project scoping has been undertaken in 2023-24, however delivery of the traditional custodians’ 
engagement framework is not anticipated to commence until 2024-25. 

1.2

Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) Network Expansion     
Progress the expansion of our safety camera network including Licence Plate 
Recognition program to support crime reduction, protect our assets and 
community facilities while improving public safety. 

•  On track

During 2023-24, Council's CCTV network expanded 83 additional cameras, including the Licence Plate 
Recognition (LPR) program. Over 9,000 alerts were generated on vehicles of interest identified by QPS in the 
last year, with 175 deployments conducted by our mobile CCTV fleet to support public safety outcomes. 

1.3

Community Facilities Network Mapping        
Continue to deliver network planning activities for our extensive community 
facilities to understand service delivery and asset condition and to plan for growth 
and changing user needs. 

•  On track

Community facility network mapping and planning initiatives continued to progress in the 2023-24 financial 
year. Key projects included the Changing Places Network Plan.

1.4
Cultural Heritage Management        
Continue to improve our management of local cultural heritage areas, objects and 
places, through clear policy guidelines, cultural awareness and heritage training.

•  On track

The new Cultural Services Collection Facility ensures the safe preservation of Heritage and Museum and Gallery 
Collection items in accordance with industry standards. 1,200 artworks from the Moreton Bay Art Collection 
were relocated for storage this year. The Heritage and Museum’s collection increased by 190 objects totalling 
20,050, and 3,879 object files were updated, for accurate record keeping. Cultural awareness training has been 
provided to 173 staff members working at our libraries, galleries, museums and cultural activations.

1.5

Universal Accessibility Design Guidelines         
Deliver a suite of design guidelines to assist us and our communities in the 
planning and implementation of accessibility upgrades to support community 
inclusion and access. 

•  On track

This project continues to progress with internal stakeholder consultation underway. Project completion is 
anticipated in 2024-25. 
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1.6

Recognise and Reach Out Initiative            
Continue to raise awareness of the issue of family and domestic violence and 
abuse and encourage people experiencing or perpetrating abuse to connect with 
local support services through our Recognise and Reach Out campaign.  
(Key Initiative 1.6) 

•  On track

Council continues to utilise its Recognise and Reach Out campaign to raise awareness about domestic and 
family violence and abuse within the city and encourages both victims and perpetrators to seek the support 
that they need.

1.7
Community Organisational Development               
Continue to provide education and training opportunities for community 
organisations to develop their management and governance skills and knowledge. 

•  On track

Council continued to deliver an extensive program of education and training opportunities for community 
organisations in 2023-24. Training topics included, but were not limited to: Understanding Financial Statements, 
Using Technology, Governance, Grants and Funding, and People Management.

1.8

Healthy and Active Moreton                
Continue to provide a diverse program of free and affordable sport, recreation 
and wellness activities supporting healthier lifestyles for all ages and includes our 
Active Holiday program for children. 

•  On track

During 2023-24, over 49,000 participants attended more than 4,000 Healthy and Active Moreton sessions.

1.9

Sports Planning Opportunities                 
Continue to expand our community, sport and recreation services and plan for 
growth through the identification, planning and design of facilities, including 
priority city sports complexes. 

•  On track

Construction of the new women’s football centre of excellence and junior football facilities were completed at 
the South Pine Sports Complex including two new buildings and four fields.
Planning and design was undertaken for upgrades at Caboolture Sports Complex, James Drysdale Reserve, 
Dances Road Sports Complex and three new complexes in emerging areas such as Lilywood, the first stage of 
the Waraba development.
 
Design commenced on new football buildings at Caboolture Sports Complex and Harris Avenue Sports 
Complex, a new baseball building at James Drysdale Reserve and a new softball building at Talobilla Sports 
Complex. Work continued on the design of multiple skate facility upgrades with construction commencing on 
some. A feasibility investigation was completed for a new regional skate park.
 
Planning for additional sports facilities in Griffin was hampered by changes in environmental legislation.  
Acquisition of land for future sports complexes remains a priority to address demand associated with 
population growth.

1.10

Tertiary Education Scholarship Program                  
Continue investment in our tertiary education Scholarship Program for a further 
three years (2023-25) to support young people experiencing financial hardship 
achieve higher education goals at the UniSC Moreton Bay campus. 

•  On track

Council continues to partner with UniSC Moreton Bay campus to provide tertiary education scholarships and 
study support bursaries to students experiencing financial hardship.
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1.11

Creative Moreton                   
Continue to provide a diverse program of free and affordable cultural and creative 
experiences in libraries, galleries, museums and in open spaces across our city for 
all ages to foster inclusive, connected and inspiring communities. 

•  On track

Council delivered a broad range of free and affordable experiences to connect and inspire communities 
across the city. Libraries delivered 11,512 events attracting 244,583 participants. Galleries exhibited 288 artists 
and delivered 489 public programs to 14,688 participants. Heritage and Museums delivered 15 temporary 
exhibitions, and 557 public programs to 20,848 participants. The Cultural Activation team engaged 598 artists 
and creatives as part of delivering 124 events activating 68 venues and places to over 12,240 attendees and 
participants. 

1.12

Arts and Culture Planning Opportunities                   
Continue to refine and expand arts, culture and creative services and plan for 
growth, through the identification, planning and design of facilities, including 
priority cultural precincts that provide opportunities for all community members 
and for cultural tourism. 

•  On track

The Redcliffe Library has had extensive renovations, elevating this community building into a contemporary 
public space that promises to serve the community for years to come. Upgrades included flexible event area 
with an accessible stage and state-of-the-art audio-visual technology, a local history room, two new creative 
spaces, a quiet reading zone, a digital studio, and a groundbreaking Changing Places facility providing equity 
of access to all community members. Heritage and Museums delivered a new semi-permanent exhibition 
space at Pine Rivers Heritage Museum. This space creates an opportunity to experience archaeological finds 
and historical objects and stories pertinent to the area, offering visitors a new, engaging and interactive 
opportunity to learn about Pine Rivers history.

1.13

Cultural and Creative Inclusion                     
Continue to cultivate local talents and innovations to develop a suite of 
placemaking experiences across cultural and creative venues, growing a 
connection with each other and promoting our city. 

•  On track

Council continues to focus on cultivating and showcasing local talent. Galleries exhibited 126 local artists in the 
2023-24 exhibition program and 223 young people entered the Moreton Bay Youth Art Awards. Heritage and 
Museums worked with local Vietnam veterans to launch the ‘Our Vietnam Veteran’s Stories’ exhibition, marking 
the 50th anniversary of the end of the Vietnam War. The Cultural Activation team delivered the inaugural 
Make Music Month program, providing a performance platform for over 240 musicians, with 84% being local 
to Moreton Bay. Libraries also delivered two Local Author Expos, giving 18 local writers the opportunity to 
showcase their talent to the community.

King Slobber at ‘Monster Siege Creative Adventure 
Day’ delivered by Cultural Services in April 2024. 

Photographer: Katie Bennett.
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Fast facts

Our CCTV network’s licence 
plate recognition flagged 9,955 

vehicles of interest and we 
responded to 402 QPS requests 

for footage to support law 
enforcement activity.

Libraries added
83,601 new items with 

2,665,620 physical loans 
and 863,981 digital loans.

Over 49,000 participants 
attended more than 4,000 

Healthy and Active  
Moreton sessions.

Redcliffe Entertainment Centre 
attracted over 46,000 
people to 196 shows. 

The venue was booked for 
298 days of the year. 

The fourth annual Moreton 
Bay Anywhere Festival 

featured 45 performances 
with over 260 performers, 

entertaining over 3,800 
people across the city.

54 First Nations artists 
were exhibited in our art 

galleries and products by 11 
First Nations artisans were 

stocked in our gallery shops.

Our aquatic centres 
experienced significant growth 

attracting over 1.5 million 
visits, including 306,170 learn 

to swim attendees and 114,360 
school swimming visits. 

Morayfield Sport and Events 
Centre attracted over 201,700 

attendees and hosted 118 
events, alongside regular 

sports and activities.

South Pine Indoor 
Sports Centre attracted 
over 158,000 attendees 

participating in a range of 
sports, activities and events.

More than 21,500 
members used the 

Library App including 
placing 102,075 

reservations.

Local History 
programmed 567 local 

and family history 
events with 3,900 

attendees.

Queensland State 
Equestrian Centre hosted 
51 events over 141 event 

days, attracting over 
14,000 visitors. 



Our Healthy 
Environments

Our goal

Our Moreton Bay will be renowned for its healthy natural 
and built environments that enhance our identity, support 
biodiversity and our sustainable lifestyles.
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Our outcomes
1.	 Our special natural areas and wildlife habitats are connected, protected and enhanced.

2.	 Our coasts and waterway catchments are used sustainably, and environmental values are 
protected and enhanced.

3.	 Our neighbourhoods, buildings and infrastructure support sustainable living.

4.	 We understand and proactively respond to climate change and natural hazard risks.

5.	 We enable our materials and resources to be used cleverly and recycled to avoid waste and 
pollution. 

6.	 Our communities and businesses practice sustainability in the choices they make every day.



Outcomes update 2023-24

Outcome Status

Our special natural areas and wildlife habitats are connected, 
protected and enhanced.

•  On track

Our coasts and waterway catchments are used sustainably, and 
environmental values are protected and enhanced.

•  On track

Our neighbourhoods, buildings and infrastructure support  
sustainable living.

•  On track

We understand and proactively respond to climate change and 
natural hazard risks.

•  On track

We enable our materials and resources to be used cleverly and 
recycled to avoid waste and pollution. 

•  On track

Our communities and businesses practice sustainability in the choices 
they make every day.

•  On track
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Charging towards net zero
2023-24 spotlighted City of Moreton Bay’s journey towards achieving net zero emissions for 
Council operations by 2039.

In May 2024, a brand-new 1MW Tesla Megapack battery was successfully switched on at Bunya 
waste management facility. In partnership with LGI Limited, this was a first for any Queensland 
council. The technology allows for electricity generated from landfill biogas to be stored and 
dispatched. 

Thanks to this partnership, biogas generated at landfill sites is diverted and used as a renewable 
energy source, reducing the equivalent of over 202,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide emissions being 
released to our atmosphere during the reporting period across the city’s three waste facilities. 
The electricity generated is enough to power an average of 6,438 homes each month.

Sustainability-focused design and procurement remains a key pillar of our decision making and 
planning. During 2023-24, we continued to transition our fleet to hybrid and fully electric vehicles, 
as well as our stock of battery powered small plant equipment. We also undertook on-site audits 
to identify opportunities to save money and reduce emissions from some of our buildings and 
facilities. 

The introduction of a garden organics (GO) collection program in late 2024 will be a significant 
step towards diverting waste from landfill and elevating the city’s recycling rate to 70% by 2040. 
Approximately 50% of Council’s emissions originate from waste and the introduction of GO bins 
will divert 15,000 tonnes of material from landfill each year. 

32 1MW Tesla Megapack battery at Bunya waste management facility. Image supplied by LGI Limited.



Key highlights 2023-24

Garden Organics Collection Service  
City of Moreton Bay awarded a new contract for kerbside collection of Garden Organics (GO). 
This is a key milestone to enable residents to conveniently recycle household garden organics 
from their homes, reducing carbon emissions and diverting valuable resources from landfill. The 
new kerbside GO collection service commences in December 2024.

Natural Hazard Risk Assessments  
Council undertook a Flood Risk Assessment and Strategic Flood Risk Management project 
and progressed the scoping study. We also completed the mapping reliability assessment and 
hazard identification stage of the Bushfire Hazard Risk Assessment project; undertook draft 
Landslide Susceptibility Mapping; and commenced exposure analysis for the Landslide Hazard 
Risk Assessment project. Progressing the natural hazard risk assessments will support Council 
to achieve its Environment and Sustainability Strategy policy direction to actively plan for a 
warming climate.

Lower Pine River Shoreline Erosion Management Plan 

Council has developed a draft Lower Pine River Shoreline Erosion Management Plan. 
Identification of short to medium term shoreline management requirements will help to protect 
coastal communities adjacent to the lower Pine River from coastal erosion.

Green Infrastructure - Network Management  

Council delivered its seasonal ‘Wildlife Awareness’ signage campaign at 23 locations across 
the city. The aim of the campaign is to raise driver awareness about the increased risk of 
encountering wildlife on roads during peak breeding and dispersal times. Council receives more 
than 700 requests for the removal of deceased animals from the city’s road network, and around 
120 requests for wildlife specific road signs annually. Typically, a higher volume of community 
requests is received during peak wildlife breeding and movement times (June - September).
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Land Buyback for Environmental Purposes  

Council commenced the development of Ecological Restoration and Management Plans for 
five properties under the Land Buyback for Environmental Purposes program. A sixth property 
is nearing the completion of its three-year intensive maintenance and restoration period, after 
which it will transition to routine maintenance. These areas play a vital role in preserving and 
enhancing significant natural spaces and wildlife habitats across the city.

Sustainability Demo Day  

Council supported the inaugural Sustainability Demo Day on 28 September 2023, bringing 
businesses, social enterprises and initiatives committed to creating positive environmental and 
social impacts. Eight local businesses and a wildcard participant pitched to 85 participants at 
the Eatons Hill Hotel.

The event contributed to advancing our city's regional economic development goals, shaping a 
sustainable future, and working towards achieving net-zero goals collaboratively. As a result of 
their participation, two local women from separate businesses were accepted into the inaugural 
2023 Queensland Women in Climate Tech Fellowship program. One of the businesses was also 
approached by TIQ to join them in Taiwan on a trade visit.

Sustainable Destinations Program 

Council’s Sustainable Destination Program priorities were delivered. These included the 
endorsement of a sustainable tourism vision and principles for the city, establishment of 
collaborative Sustainable Tourism ‘Green’ Teams, delivery of the Sustainable Horizons workshop 
to 25 participants, collection of city-wide data to establish the city’s environmental footprint, and 
achievement of Conditional Certification by EarthCheck.

ASPIRE Program 

Council continued to partner with ASPIRE to help businesses set up best practices for waste 
management such as reducing waste generation and diverting from landfill, reducing waste 
disposal costs, improving recycling, and earning revenue by turning resources into revenue 
streams. Participation in the Aspire Program increased by 18% during 2023-24, with 34 Moreton 
Bay businesses signing up (now at 221), achieving 87.71 tonnes of waste diverted from landfill, 61.17 
tonnes of CO2 savings, and $63,770 of revenue or savings for businesses. 

Building Energy Audit 

Building energy audits of seven Council owned buildings and facilities were completed 
identifying opportunities to increase energy efficiency and reduce costs across solar PV and 
battery storage; heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC); lighting; electrical control 
systems; and tariffs. These audits help reduce energy uses and carbon emissions across  
Council operations.
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Measures of success update 2023-24

Improved green infrastructure network, safely connecting natural areas and wildlife habitats 
Number of green infrastructure network, safely connecting natural areas and wildlife habitats

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 56 (2022- 23) 60 (2023- 24) Council project data

Council installed four new green infrastructure fauna crossings and upgraded six existing green infrastructure 
fauna crossings across the city in 2023-24. Council also commenced an innovation trial of new koala escape 
hatch infrastructure at 16 locations.

Increased protected natural areas and land managed for wildlife habitats 
1.	 Hectares of land identified as protected natural estate  
2.	 Hectares of land managed under private land conservation programs such as 

Land for Wildlife and Voluntary Conservation Agreements Environmental Services

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track

29,711 ha protected 
natural estate
7,012 ha private land 
conservation (2022-23)

29,738 ha protected 
natural estate
7,445 ha private land 
conservation (2023-24)

Council GIS and program 
data sources

The area of protected natural estate recorded has increased by approximately 27 hectares during 2023-24. 
Council also partnered with 615 private landholders to protect and restore just over 7,445 hectares of bushland 
as part of the Voluntary Conservation and Land for Wildlife program. 

Improved quality of our local waterways  
Environmental condition of the Pine and Caboolture Rivers

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
2.25 out of 5 stars - Pine 
3 out of 5 stars - 
Caboolture (2022)

4 out of 5 stars - Pine 
3.25 out of 5 stars - 
Caboolture (2023)

Health Land and Water 
Report Card 2023

The Pine River achieved an improved condition rating of 4 stars based on the 2023 Healthy Land and Water 
Ecosystem Health Monitoring Program Report Card. The socio-economic benefit rating for the Pine River also 
increased to 4 stars. The Caboolture River received a slightly improved condition rating of 3.25 stars compared 
to last year, while the socio-economic benefit rating remained at 3.5 stars.

Council’s waterway clean-up program in the Caboolture and Pine Rivers has resulted in 27 tonnes of waste 
being removed. The program identified 10 litter hotspots in the Caboolture River and 8 litter hotspots in the 
Pine River. Council continues to invest in the rehabilitation of riparian corridors providing improvement to 
waterway corridor habitats and addressing weed infestations. An example includes Council’s partnership with 
SEQ Water and Healthy Land and Water to deliver riparian restoration programs in the Stanley and Upper Pine 
River catchments.
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Reduced greenhouse gas emissions from Council operations 
Tonnes CO2 equivalent emitted per annum across council operations

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
133,358 tCO2e 
(2020-21)

176,553 tCO2e 
(2022-23)

Council emissions 
inventory data sources

During 2023-24, Council’s emissions inventory showed emissions for Council operations increased by 32%, 
primarily due to increased capture of information on emissions sources, and an increase in landfill gas capture. 
The volume of identified and reported emissions has increased with the rise in data quality and reporting 
capacity and does not reflect an overall trend in increasing emissions from Council operations. 

Waste to landfill is the single largest source of Council emissions at 43% of our total emissions. While this sector 
saw an increase of 4% above baseline for the reporting period, total waste sent to landfill declined 2% and the 
total volume of landfill gas converted to CO2 prior to release increased by 35%. 

The largest increase occurred in relation to construction material (and associated transport), up 40,959 tCO2e 
on the baseline, now 24% of total emissions. The increase is primarily due to improved reporting of construction 
related activities, increasing the total volume of emissions to a value more aligned with our operations. 
Streetlighting continues to see a reduction in emissions, down 9% from baseline, as more streetlights are 
converted to high efficiency LED systems.

Reduced bushfire risk on Council managed land 
Number of fuel management areas identified and treated 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track > 35 (annual target) 37 (2023-24) Council systems and data

During 2023-24, Council conducted prescribed burning and responded to suspicious fires covering over 180 
hectares of land in Council reserves. Additional routine vegetation and fire trail management works were 
conducted on more than 5,000 hectares using mechanical mechanisms. 

Increased waste is recycled and diverted from landfill  
Overall waste diverted from landfill

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch 29.8% (2022-23) 28.7% (2023-24) Council systems and data

Council is currently working towards achieving the state target of 80% by 2030.  
During the year, Council diverted 86,412 tonnes of waste from landfill, or 28.7% of incoming waste, below target 
rates. Key challenges included lack of kerbside services for organic material, sub-optimal layouts at major 
waste facilities, free general waste disposal and community action. 

Council has now developed 10-year master plans for each major waste management facility to support 
population growth and increased diversion from landfill. Council also has a suite of programs currently in 
progress or planned to help achieve the target in the medium to long-term including recovery of recycled 
aggregates, Kerbside Garden Organics (GO), Kerbside Food Organics Garden Organics (FOGO), Paintback, and 
waste education and behaviour change program. 
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Key initiatives update 2023-24  

2.1
Land Buyback for Environmental Purposes     
Continue to acquire strategic properties to enhance green corridors and protect 
habitats for priority.

•  On watch

Council is working through two complex investigations relating to potential Land Buyback for Environmental 
Purposes (LBB) program properties, while continuing to investigate other acquisition opportunities, and 
regularly assessing nominated properties.  

Works continue on developing the Ecological Restoration and Management Plans for five existing LBB program 
properties and the sixth is nearing completion after a three-year intensive maintenance and restoration period.

2.2

Fauna Movement Infrastructure     
Continue to deliver fauna movement infrastructure throughout the green corridor 
network to improve ecological connectivity and support safe and ongoing wildlife 
movement. 

•  On track

Council continued to deliver fauna movement infrastructure throughout the green corridor network to improve 
ecological connectivity and support safe and ongoing wildlife movement.

2.3
Street and Shade Tree Planting     
Continue to prioritise our street and shade tree program to improve urban amenity 
and community comfort and address the risks associated with urban heat islands. 

•  On track

Council continued to deliver our street and shade tree planting program throughout the city. During 2023-24, 
street and pathway trees were planted at 44 locations, supporting increased amenity and reducing urban 
heat islands.

2.4

Conservation Program      
Continue to deliver our environment focused initiatives that enhance and protect 
the city’s natural values and wildlife habitats, including our Bushcare, Land for 
Wildlife, and Voluntary Conservation Programs. 

•  On track

Council continued to deliver our environment focused initiatives that enhance and protect the city’s natural 
values and wildlife habitats, including our Bushcare, Land for Wildlife, and Voluntary Conservation programs.

2.5

Catchment Management 
Continue to manage waterway health, floodplain management, drainage, natural 
process and land use to ensure the health and resilience of our catchments and the 
long-term health of the receiving waters of Moreton Bay. 

•  On track

Council has continued to update its Regional Flood Database based on the 2019 Australian Rainfall and Runoff 
guideline and associated documents, to improve understanding of flood behaviour under current and future 
climate conditions.

Council also contributed to the SEQ Waterways and Wetlands Investment Strategy (SWWIS), launched by 
the State Government and Council of Mayors in December 2023. The SWWIS outlines the future growth of 
the Resilient Rivers Initiative, guiding river rehabilitation projects and environmental outcomes in South East 
Queensland.
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2.6

Stormwater Management 
Continue to manage stormwater and improve water quality throughout the city 
through regeneration and revegetation of waterways, new infrastructure works 
and upgrading existing infrastructure works. 

•  On track

During 2032-24, Council continued to deliver key stormwater and water quality improvement projects across the 
city. Through the waterway management programs, Council delivered around $18 million in improvement and 
upgrade projects.

2.7
Waste Management and Resource Recovery 
Deliver effective waste management and resource recovery initiatives aimed at 
increasing landfill diversion and resource recovery. 

•  On track

Council continued to progress development of waste management and resource recovery initiatives aimed 
at increasing landfill diversion and resource recovery. The start of the new GO service in December 2024 being 
a key initiative, with others including recovery of resources, education and behaviour change programs and 
planning for upgrades to waste management facilities. 

2.8

Climate Change Mitigation Initiatives 
Continue to undertake initiatives which reduce greenhouse gas emissions from 
our operations and assist residents and business operators to take similar steps in 
their homes and businesses. 

•  On track

Council commenced preparation of the Organisational Net Zero Plan supported by emissions pathway 
modelling, benchmarking and stakeholder consultation. 

A range of other BAU initiatives are being undertaken that contribute to our emissions reduction journey, 
including increasing hybrid and electric vehicles (and plant) in Council’s fleet, installation of solar panels 
on buildings (i.e. Narangba Depot), use of carbon neutral paper, landfill gas collection and conversion to 
electricity, building energy audits for seven Council buildings and facilities, and analysis of electricity 
supply options.

2.9

Bushfire Hazard Management Program 
Continue to deliver planned burns, manage fire trails and other projects related 
to fuel management, infrastructure, and risk assessment, to reduce the impact of 
bushfires and increase preparedness. 

•  On track

Council has engaged industry experts to develop an updated and contemporary Strategic Fire Management 
Strategy to be delivered in 2024-25. This will establish strategic processes to support fire mitigation activities 
such as planned burns, mechanical fuel management, relevant community engagement, prioritisation 
frameworks, preferred fire behaviour modelling and Council policy and process integration.

Planned burn at Bribie Island.
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Fast facts

Engaged 2,798 residents at 
22 local events, 2,324 residents at 
40 shopping centre displays and 
1,745 school students and staff at 
46 workshops, presentations, and 
school visits on sustainable waste 

management practices.

Provided 62 Voluntary Conservation 
Program grants to the value 

of $69,413 to deliver on-ground 
works across Land for Wildlife and 

Voluntary Conservation  
Agreement properties.

Continued to protect 280 
hectares of koala habitat 

under the Queensland Nature 
Conservation Act 1992  

(Koala Nature Refuges).

Received $528,598 in grant 
funds to deliver habitat 

enhancement and 
research projects.

467 residents attended 
23 free rethink waste 

education, recycling and 
composting workshops and 

waste facility tours.

Over 200 volunteers planted 
5,100 native plants on 

National Tree Day 2023 at 
Clontarf, Elimbah  

and Samford.

Partnered with Friends of 
Lagoon Creek to manage  
>20 ha of land to remove 

weeds and encourage  
natural regeneration.

Our Environment Education 
Centres welcomed over 

25,000 visitors and educated 
3,092 school students on 
environmental protection

and sustainability.

Partnered with Pine Rivers 
Catchment Association to 

deliver a Riparian Management 
Incentive Scheme to landholders 

in the upper South Pine River 
Catchment, targeting weeds 

such as cats claw creeper.

Conducted vegetation 
management activities 

on 51,270,000 m2 (5,127ha) 
of trails and bushland 

interfaces.

Over 2,360 volunteers 
across 164 registered 

sites supported Clean Up 
Australia Day in March 
2024, removing over 6 

tonnes of litter & illegally 
dumped waste.

Opened one new wildlife 
fodder plantation at Joyner 

and established one at 
Warner. Maintained two 

koala fodder plantations at 
Burpengary and Morayfield.



Our Well-
Planned Places

Our goal

Our Moreton Bay will be a network of well-planned and 
connected places and spaces, enhancing lifestyle, accessibility 
and employment choices.
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Our outcomes
1.	 We have a clear urban growth boundary that protects our unique landscapes and 

environmental values.

2.	 We have a preferred sequence of growth that supports complete, sustainable and connected 
communities. 

3.	 Our communities have access to safe, affordable and diverse living choices.

4.	 We have well planned neighbourhoods that support changing communities, respect cultural 
heritage and enjoy a unique sense of place.

5.	 We have well-planned centres and precincts that support our progressive local economy  
and identity.

6.	 We have infrastructure that integrates with surrounding land use and supports our  
growing communities. 



7.	 We have an efficient, connected and resilient transport network enabled by smart 
technologies and innovative design.

8.	 Our communities have access to safe, affordable and diverse transport choices that make 
active travel easy.

Outcomes update 2023-24

Outcome Status

We have a clear urban growth boundary that protects our unique 
landscapes and environmental values. 

•  On watch

We have a preferred sequence of growth that supports complete, 
sustainable and connected communities. 

•  On watch

Our communities have access to safe, affordable and diverse  
living choices. 

•  On track

We have well-planned neighbourhoods that support changing 
communities, respect cultural heritage and enjoy a unique sense  
of place. 

•  On watch

We have well-planned centres and precincts that support our 
progressive local economy and identity.

•  On watch

We have infrastructure that integrates with surrounding land use and 
supports our growing communities.

•  On watch

We have an efficient, connected and resilient transport network 
enabled by smart technologies and innovative design.

•  On watch

Our communities have access to safe, affordable and diverse transport 
choices that make active travel easy.

•  On watch

41Active School Travel launch at Mango Hill State School.



Safer, healthier school commutes through new initiative
City of Moreton Bay has launched the Active School Travel program, aiming to make school 
commutes safer and more accessible for children. This initiative, which kicked off at Mango Hill 
State School, encourages children to adopt healthier lifestyles by walking, cycling, or scootering 
to school using upgraded infrastructure around schools. 

The program addresses the significant concerns parents have about traffic congestion and child 
safety during school commutes. Recognising these challenges, City of Moreton Bay embarked on 
a mission to create safer, more efficient travel routes for students. 

The initiative includes:  
•	 Upgraded footpaths and crossings: Ensuring safe pedestrian routes. 

•	 Improved bus stops: Strategically located to facilitate easy access. 

•	 Enhanced cycleways and roads: Promoting safe cycling and driving. 

The success of the program relies heavily on community feedback and participation. 
Community input has been key to developing these infrastructure projects, which aim to: 

•	 Reduce traffic Congestion: By promoting walking, cycling, and scootering, the 
program aims to alleviate congestion around schools during peak times. 

•	 Promote health benefits: Active commutes enhance students' concentration, 
independence, social interaction, and overall well-being. 

This initiative aligns with the city’s Integrated Transport Strategy, focusing on creating well-
planned, connected, and sustainable transport systems. It supports the vision of walkable 
communities, facilitating short, local trips. 

Council is optimistic about the program's growth, anticipating that more schools will join  
in the coming years, fostering healthier, safer, and more connected communities through  
such initiatives. 

The Active School Travel program is a pioneering initiative by City of Moreton Bay, setting a 
precedent for safer, healthier, and more sustainable school commutes. Through community 
collaboration and strategic planning, the program is poised to create lasting benefits for children 
and families across the city.

42
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Key highlights 2023-24

Kallangur-Dakabin Neighbourhood Planning Project     
The Kallangur-Dakabin Neighbourhood Planning Project reflects Council’s commitment to 
guiding growth and development while preserving the unique characteristics of the area. After 
considering community feedback, an informal State Interest Review, and the draft ShapingSEQ 
2023 Update, Council endorsed the Future Directions Report in November 2023. This report will 
help inform updates to the Planning Scheme and guide other Council actions to support the 
vision and outcomes for the neighbourhood.

Suttons Beach Pavilion Development Project    
The Suttons Beach Pavilion Development Project is an opportunity to revitalise Suttons Beach 
Park and give residents, and visitors alike, a dynamic and rewarding public space they can enjoy 
for generations to come. 

In November 2023, Council engaged professional advisors, City Lab to lead an architecture 
design competition and lahznimmo architects with Plummer & Smith’s design proposal was 
unanimously selected by a jury of five architecture and design experts as the winning design. 

The new design presents a welcoming, relaxed and accessible multi-purpose building and 
refreshed park area that will bring new life to this much-loved seaside precinct.

Albany Creek Skate Park 

Council delivered a $1.7 million refurbishment at Albany Creek Skate Park. The significant upgrade  
offers a safe, modern and enjoyable environment for park users of all ages and skill levels. Key 
features include a modern open spine bowl, street style obstacles, terraced seats, shade shelter, 
lighting and USB outlets. This upgrade is part of Council’s broader Skate Park Renewal Program 
to enhance skate parks across City of Moreton Bay.

Max Moreton Staircase    
Council delivered improvement works at the Max Moreton Staircase including concrete sleeper 
retaining walls to the stairway and pathway, LED lighting, a cycle ‘push’ ramp, pathway 
landings, and improvements to affected residential driveways. The project will provide improved 
connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists heading north and south, and to provide a safer 
alternative to Dawson Parade for cyclists.

Max Moreton Staircase at Arana Hills.



44

Measures of success update 2023-24

Achievement of Shaping SEQ dwelling targets  
Number of additional dwellings delivered

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch 197,607 (2022-23) 201,737 (2023-24) Council systems and data

An additional 4,130 dwellings were approved and delivered across the city in 2023-24.

Increased housing diversity across the city  
Percentage of dwelling building approvals

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch

78.6% - detached dwellings
20.5% - attached dwellings
0.9% - other dwellings
(2022-23)

80.4% - detached dwellings 
19.0% - attached dwellings 
0.6% - other dwellings 
(2023-24)

Council systems and data

There was an increase in the proportion of detached dwelling building approvals, a decrease in the proportion 
of attached dwelling approvals and a decrease in the proportion of other dwelling approvals in 2023-24, noting 
that these proportions shift from year to year. Council is progressing the recommendations of the Infill Housing 
Expert Panel on a range of housing matters, including diverse housing outcomes. 

Increased community participation in public and active transport  
Number of active transport trips

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch Not yet established No update available Not yet established

Council’s active transport planning program takes a community led planning approach to increase community 
participation in active transport. Council regularly collects data on requests for active transport infrastructure, 
which is used to inform where and what infrastructure is needed within our city. Council also manages three 
locations where bike and pedestrian counters are installed and is working towards developing a methodology 
to use this and other data sources to determine a baseline from which to confidently and regularly measure 
active transport use. Council is anticipating establishing a baseline of data around these counters in 2024-2025.  
 
During 2023-24 Council commissioned an Active Transport Report by Dr Chris Hale which identified that the 
average walking trip distance in the City of Moreton Bay is 800m, less than SEQ average of 1km. The average 
trip distance by bicycle is 3.7km, also less that the SEQ average of 4.3km.  The report suggests that walking 
comprises 11.9% of all trips in the city (Household Transport Survey Data), with results of the Active Transport 
Trip Purpose Assessment indicating that the majority of city residents are using transport for personal business 
(54%), recreation (20%), education (16%) or to buy something (9%).

Number of public transport trips that start within the City of Moreton Bay 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
392,447 
(2022-23)

419,743  
(2023-24)

Department of Transport 
and Main Roads data

There was an overall 7% increase in community participation in public transport across the city in 2023-24. The 
total number of trips is based on trips that start and end within City of Moreton Bay as well as trips that start 
in City of Moreton Bay but finish in another Local Government Area.   

This data currently captures TransLink ‘Go Card’ trips (which account for well over 80% of patronage data) and 
Smart Ticketing where available. Smart Ticketing allows patrons to use their debit or credit card and as of 30 
June 2024 is available on the train and ferry network, but not yet the bus network. The data was measured 
using two data periods which are compared each year, 13-26 February 2024 and 1-14 March 2024 inclusive.
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Increased housing within walkable distance of local employment, public transport and parks 
Percentage of new homes built within 800m walkable distance of a centre and major public transport stop 
(train station, transit centre etc) 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
18.3% - centre 
9.4% - public transport 
stop (2022-23)

18.1% - centre  
9.3% - public transport 
stop  (2023-24)

Council GIS and 
program data

The percentage of new dwelling approvals (as a proportion of all new dwelling approvals granted) within 
800m walkable distance of a centre was 11.1% in 2023-24. However, the overall percentage of completed homes 
and new approvals was generally consistent at 18.1%.  

The percentage of new dwelling approvals (as a proportion of all new dwelling approvals granted) within 
800m walkable distance of a major public transport stop such as a train station, or transit centre was 3.7%. 
However, the overall percentage of completed homes and new approvals was generally consistent at 9.3%.

Percentage of new homes built within 400m walkable distance to a local park or green space.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch 71.8% (2022-23) 71% (2023-24)
Council GIS and 
program data

The percentage of new dwelling approvals (as a proportion of all new dwelling approvals) within 400m 
walkable distance of a local park or green space was 37.4% in 2023-24. However, the overall percentage of 
completed housing and new dwelling (building) approvals was general consistent at 71%.

Increased tree shade cover provided to walking and cycle paths  
Number of pathway tree planting projects

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 12 (2022-2023) 44 (2023-2024) Council systems and data

Council delivered 44 tree planting projects across the city with ideal weather conditions supporting increased 
plantings during 2023-24. Council has continued to invest in improving pathway shade to increase active 
transport across the city. These planting projects have improved community comfort and encourage walking 
and cycling along paths.

Improved resilience of our key transport corridors to flooding 
Percentage of key council corridors identified as evacuation routes with flood immunity 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  No update available Not yet established No update available Council systems and data

Council is currently working to establish baseline data on trafficability, cross drainage standards and road 
hierarchy across the city. Development of a new road hierarchy system and updated flood modelling projects 
are underway which will further improve the accuracy and robustness of the data.

Improved local road safety 
Rate of serious crashes  where road safety changes have been made

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  No update available Not yet established No update available Council systems and data

Council is currently working to establish baseline road safety crash data. Currently there is a ‘lag’ of 
approximately nine months between crashes occurring and the data being available. Council is currently 
compiling data to compare a three to five year average crash rate before and after upgrade to give a good 
indication of change in crash risk.



Intersection upgrade at Old Gympie Road and Boundary Road, Dakabin

Increased reliability of travel time on key transport corridors 
Average travel time variance on key corridors during peak periods

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  No update available Not yet established No update available Not yet established

Council is currently working to establish baseline data that measures the reliability of the road network based 
on an acceptable average travel time variance (eg standard deviation) on select key corridors, which reflect 
a representative sample of Council’s north-south and east-west arterial and sub-arterial road network. Travel 
time will be measured ‘point to point’ within each selected key corridor, capturing both peak and non-peak 
travel time for annual comparison.  

46
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Key initiatives update 2023-24  

3.1
Development Assessment and Compliance
Continue to implement the region’s planning schemes and regulate growth and 
development across the city. 

•  On track

Council continues to manage a high volume of development applications in line with our high growth forecasts 
for the city. 

3.2

Reshaping our Region's Planning Program 
Continue to implement the endorsed Reshaping Our Region’s Planning Program 
which recalibrates the current way in which growth and development is managed 
across the city. 

•  On watch

Council continued to deliver the Reshaping our Region’s Planning Program with the support of technical 
consultants. There have been some delays due to consultant availability and Queensland Government 
expectations on work priorities (and corresponding resourcing impacts) arising from the ShapingSEQ 2023 
Update. These matters are being closely monitored but are identified risks to the program's delivery moving 
forward. 

(a)
New City of Moreton Bay Planning Scheme
Develop a new Moreton Bay City Council Planning Scheme that will integrate and 
respond to key directions and outcomes of Council’s key strategies.  

•  On track

Council has commenced the program to develop a new Moreton Bay City Council Planning Scheme, initiating 
preliminary scoping activities across Council departments. This initial phase is crucial as it sets the foundation 
for a comprehensive and integrated planning framework that will align with and respond to the key directions 
and outcomes of the Council’s long-term strategies. Council is yet to take a formal position on the program 
scope and timing.

(b)
Neighbourhood Planning Program
Continue to implement and grow our Neighbourhood Planning Program rolling out 
neighbourhood plans in identified places.  

•  On track

Council continued to support the Neighbourhood Planning Program and associated future projects. Council 
progressed the draft Morayfield Neighbourhood Planning Future Directions Report with feedback from internal 
consultation currently under review. 

(c)

Housing Needs Investigation
Investigate the region’s current and future housing needs to ensure matters such as 
housing choice, diversity and affordable living options are sufficiently planned for 
and are being delivered in the right locations.  

•  Completed

Council completed the Housing Needs Investigation and findings will be regularly reviewed for any ongoing 
opportunities to influence future planning schemes. 

(d)

Centres and Commercial Areas Investigation 
Investigate supply and demand for the region’s current centres and retail lands 
and make recommendations to inform future employment, land supply delivery 
and policy directions.  

•  On watch

Council progressed the investigation into the region’s centres and retail areas, focusing on supply and demand 
analysis. The investigation is currently undergoing further reviews, with plans to brief Council on the findings 
and recommendations in 2024-25. 
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(e)

Urban Areas Employment Lands Investigation
Investigate supply and demand for the region’s current urban employment 
lands (excluding centres and retail lands) to identify any implications and make 
recommendations to inform future employment land supply delivery and policy 
directions.  

•  Completed

Council completed the Urban Areas Employment Land Investigation and findings will be regularly reviewed for 
any ongoing opportunities to influence future planning schemes.

(f)
New Urban Growth Model
Deliver a single, integrated employment and residential development model that 
can provide long term development scenarios to inform land supply, land use.

•  On track

Council is actively progressing the baseline work and data processing for a new urban growth model. This 
effort is essential to support the delivery of an integrated employment and residential development model 
that will inform long-term land supply and land use scenarios.

(g)
Great Places Program
Continue to support the delivery of best practice built form and excellence in urban 
design, place making and heritage outcome.

•  On watch

Council experienced unexpected delays in progressing the Coastal Building Design Project. These matters are 
being resolved and it is anticipated that the next project phases will be back on track in 2024-25. 

3.3
Transport Planning, Investigations and Advocacy  
Deliver initiatives to plan the transport networks for current and future growth 
across the region. 

•  On track

Council progressed a number of initiatives to improve the city’s transport networks including regional 
modelling with alternate test scenarios, commenced the road hierarchy review project, and commenced 
infrastructure planning for key road corridors such as Blewers Road and Narangba East Bypass, along with 
growth areas such as Waraba and Morayfield South.

3.4

Transport Corridor, Road Safety and Capacity Improvements 
Deliver upgrades to major transport corridors to improve safety, and capacity 
across the region to meet design standards and desired standards of service for 
vehicle speed, congestion, access and parking. 

•  On track

Council progressed its transport corridor approach with the first ‘design manager’ and ‘master designer’ 
appointed for the Old Gympie Road corridor. This represents a significant milestone in maturing our approach 
to our transport networks. Recent advocacy has delivered $7 million in matched funding from the State 
Government that will accelerate the planning and design of the Buchanan Road corridor. Council has also 
progressed the development of a new Transport Safety Plan which will support the identification of transport 
safety projects. This plan is anticipated to be released in 2024-25. 

3.5
Active Transport and Pedestrian Safety Improvements   
Deliver active transport and pedestrian safety initiatives to improve connectivity 
across the region. 

•  On track

Council delivered Active Transport pathway projects to encourage walking and cycling in all divisions across 
the city. A total of 49 pathway projects were constructed (>12.6km active transport pathways, including 7.5km of 
missing links), along with more than 40 safety improvement projects including line marking changes, signage, 
and kerb ramp upgrades delivered at 30 schools. Council also installed an additional three pedestrian signals 
at intersections, nine children’s supervised crossings and four raised pedestrian crossings across the city. 
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3.6

Public Transport Improvements 
Deliver public transport initiatives to improve public transport services across the 
city, including bus shelter and bus stop (renewal, upgrade and new) programs, 
development of a public transport action plan and advocacy for the community 
with the state and federal governments. 

•  On track

Council continued to deliver bus shelter upgrades with nine new shelters being installed across the city during 
2023-24. Council continued its advocacy work with the State Government and commenced partnership working 
on public transport investigations to support our major growth areas. Council is currently working with the 
Queensland Government on the Bellmere Road public transport corridor to support Waraba development.

Fast facts

A total of 49 pathway projects 
were constructed >12.6km  
active transport pathway 

delivered and 7.5km of  
missing links pathway.

4,068 plumbing 
applications determined.

22,236 inspections 
carried out.

Nine new bus shelters 
installed across 

the city.

8,695 building 
applications received. 

3,592 investigations 
determined.

4,335 development 
applications processed.
2,973 approvals issued.

1,384 lots endorsed.

40 safety improvement 
projects  were completed 

including line marking 
changes, signage, and kerb 
ramp upgrades delivered  

at 30 schools.



Our Progressive 
Economy

Our goal

Our Moreton Bay will have a progressive and robust economy 
that capitalises on its unique competitive advantages, 
partnerships and technology.

Our outcomes
1.	 We have a thriving local economy that builds our business reputation and supports our 

investment credentials.

2.	 We provide a supportive environment to grow local businesses, industry and jobs and help 
them realise opportunities in the circular economy.  

3.	 We are a top 10 Australian regional knowledge and innovation hub. 

4.	 We are nationally recognised as the engine room of the South East Queensland (SEQ) 
economy.

5.	 We are a key contributor to achieving State significant projects such as the 2032 Brisbane 
Olympics and Paralympics. 

6.	 We have strong industry leadership and collaboration that harness our collective strength.
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Outcomes update 2023-24

Outcome Status

We have a thriving local economy that builds our business reputation 
and supports our investment credentials. 

•  On track

We provide a supportive environment to grow local businesses, 
industry and jobs and help them realise opportunities in the  
circular economy. 

•  On track

We are a top 10 Australian knowledge and innovation hub. •  On track

We are nationally recognised as the engine room of the South East 
Queensland (SEQ) economy. 

•  On track

We are a key contributor to achieving State significant projects such as 
the 2032 Brisbane Olympics and Paralympics. 

•  On track

We have strong industry leadership and collaboration that harness 
our collective strength. 

•  On track
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Accelerating towards a bigger, bolder, brighter economy 
City of Moreton Bay continues to make great progress against its Regional Economic 
Development Strategy (REDS) goals to create a bigger, bolder, brighter economy. 

The latest data from the National Institute of Economic and Industry Research (NIEIR) shows City 
of Moreton Bay’s economy has grown by $700 million in Gross Regional Product. It reveals 6,215 
new jobs and 800 new businesses were added to the city, and the value of our economy is now 
almost $22 billion.  

At 31 December 2023, there were 31,208 registered businesses in total across City of Moreton Bay, 
405 more than 30 June 2023. Based on half-yearly growth rates, this equates to a projected 2.5% 
net growth in business numbers during 2023-24. 

In 2023-24, Council investment attraction and event sponsorship programs generated $243.5 
million in local economic activity and supported the creation of 896 full time equivalent jobs. 

The REDS provides the blueprint for Council, industry and the business community, and these 
achievements propel us ever closer to the goal of a $40 billion by 2041. 

As one of Australia’s fastest growing cities and a 2032 Olympic and Paralympic Games host 
destination, we are focused on securing the attention of international investment. 

In April 2024, Mayor Peter Flannery presented the city’s undeniable opportunities for investment 
to interstate and international audiences at the Australasian Hotel Industry Conference and 
Exhibition (AHICE) in Adelaide.  

Read more about the REDS at moretonbay.qld.gov.au/REDS 
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Key highlights 2023-24

REDS Grants   
Council awarded 18 regional economic development grants, totalling $122,168 for a variety of 
projects, including training workshops, business expos and building and promoting businesses 
in the arts sector. These grants enable local chambers and industry groups to better support the 
small and local businesses across their areas, along with the actions and objectives of Council’s 
Regional Economic Development Strategy (REDS).

Moreton Money   
Council secured a $250,000 grant from the State Government for the delivery of a buy local 
program, Moreton Money. The number of businesses involved in the program grew from 116 to 
306 during 2023-24, providing the program with scale and enabling consumers to use Moreton 
Money cards across the city. A substantial marketing campaign increased social media reach 
to 77,000. 15 activities were also delivered to achieve the 163% increase in business participation, 
with increased sales to the 285 businesses that were marketed via the program. Every $100 spent 
helps circulate $180 across the economy.

Qld Small Business Friendly Council - Member of the Year 

City of Moreton Bay was recognised by the Minister for Employment and Small Business and the 
Qld Small Business Commissioner as the most ‘small business friendly’ council in Queensland 
during the annual conference (Queensland Small Business Friendly Program annual conference 
in Cairns). The award demonstrates City of Moreton Bay’s focus and support for its small business 
community and ensures they receive the highest calibre assistance in carrying out their activities 
across Moreton Bay.
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Fast facts

Engaged 1,014 local 
businesses through 

Small Business Friendly 
Council programs.

Welcomed 340 businesses 
into the Moreton Money 

program.

Awarded Qld Small 
Business Friendly Council 

Member of the Year.
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Measures of success update 2023-24

Increased local business retention and attraction  
Percentage increase in business numbers 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 31,080 (2021-22) 31,803 up 2.3% (2022-23*) Australian Business Register

The number of businesses operating in City of Moreton Bay increased by 723 in 2022-23. Based on half-yearly 
growth rates for July to December, City of Moreton Bay is projected to have a 2.5% net growth in business 
numbers for the year 2023-24.

Percentage increase in job numbers

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 157,013 (2021-22) 163,228 up 4% (2022-23*)
National Institute of Economic and 
Industry Research (NIEIR)

The number of jobs in Moreton Bay increased by +6,215 (4%), resulting in local job numbers rising from 157,013 to 
163,228. Job numbers are current as at 30 June 2023 as there is a 12-month lag in data availability. Additional 
note: 2021-22 job numbers were adjusted down from 158,837 to 157,013 by NIEIR. 

Increased major event attraction  
Return on investment from Council-sponsored and supported major events

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 12:1 (2022-23) 35:1 (2023-24)
Based on postcode data and 
metrics from Department of 
Tourism, Innovation and Sport

Council sponsored 34 tourism events during 2023-24, including 29 events funded under the sponsorship program 
and 5 through other funding pathways. Collectively, it’s estimated these events generated over 263,800 visitor 
nights and more than $53.1 million in economic benefit, including $49.3 million in local spending and $3.8 million 
worth of media coverage. The 29 events under the sponsorship program generated a 35:1 return on investment 
from direct economic activity.

Increased inward investment   
Percentage increase in Gross Regional Product

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
$21.25 billion
(2021-22)

$21.95 billion up 3.3% 
(2022-23*)

Australian Bureau of Statistics 
based on Gross Domestic Product 
(GDP) and Gross State Product 
(GSP)

The value of Gross Regional Product (GRP) for City of Moreton Bay increased by $696 million (3.3%), resulting in 
GRP rising to $21.95 billion over the 12-month period. 

*GRP value is current as of 30 June 2023 as there is a 12-month lag in data availability. 
Note: 2021-2022 GRP values were adjusted up from $19.9 to $21.25 billion and 2020-21 up from $19.1 to 
$20.08 billion by NIEIR. 
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Improved use of Council assets to support the local economy  
Revenue generated from Councils commercial property leasing portfolio. Strategic property acquisition and 
disposal program.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track

$6,432,077 leasing revenue  
$26,920,941 acquisitions  
$321,134 sales 
(2021-22)

$7,384,279 leasing revenue  
$34,693,387 acquisitions 
(2023-24)

Council internal systems and 
commercial property asset 
register

Council continues to undertake regular market reviews and strategic planning to optimise commercial 
performance of its leased property holdings. $7,384,278 in revenue was collected from commercial leases and 
licences in 2023-24, and Council acquired over $11 million worth of properties for future projects associated with 
roads and parks.

Council-owned assets were hired out to local businesses for almost 39,000 hours over the year providing over 
$418,000 in venue hire revenue. A total of 25 sponsored tourism events were also held using Council controlled 
assets. It is estimated these events stimulated $21.8 million in additional spending and supported 219 full time 
equivalent local jobs.

Property acquisitions are expected to decrease somewhat in the near future due to the completion of Council’s 
component of the state and federal government's Voluntary Home Buy Back Program. However, it is expected 
land acquisitions for capital projects will increase to keep pace with projected growth and development.

Increased investment in City building projects   
Total value of state and federal government investment in City building projects.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
$60,225,191
(2021-22)

$71,064,019
(2023-24)

Council financial management 
reports

Council received a number of significant operational and capital grants totalling just over $71 million from 
state and federal government sources during the year.

Achievement of top 10 ranking as a knowledge and innovation hub    
Average minimum ranking in independent ranking systems related to indicators and enablers of innovation.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track <10 Top 5 (2023)
Australian Digital Inclusion 
Index 2023

According to the 2023 Australian Digital Inclusion Index, City of Moreton Bay area was ranked in the top five 
local government areas in Queensland, scoring 73.9 compared to the national average of 73.2 and Queensland 
average of 73. 
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Strengthened city business identity     
Overall reputation of the city as a place to do business.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 73.6 (2022-23) 75.3 (2023-24)

Developing and Enhancing 
Moreton Bay's Reputation 2022 
developed by University of the 
Sunshine Coast (UniSC)

The image of City of Moreton Bay as a place to do business was independently rated at 74.4/100 by UniSC 
in 2023-24 and the business identity of the city was rated 76.8/100. The weighted average of these results 
translates to a city business reputation rating of 75.3/100 for 2023-24, up from 73.6 in 2022-23.

Number of formal opportunities Council provides for government and industry leaders from REDS stakeholder 
groups to engaged with Council in relation to the REDS priorities and implementation.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 12 13
Regional Economic Development 
Strategy (REDS) reporting

During 2023-24, Regional Economic Development Strategy (REDS) stakeholders had multiple opportunities 
to engage with Council regarding REDS priorities including: eight online stakeholder briefings, two in-person 
stakeholder events, and three in-person taskforce meetings. 

Increased attraction of our Moreton Bay as a tertiary study destination     
Number of registered students at University of the Sunshine Coast Moreton Bay campus.

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 3,447 (2022) 4,758 (2023) University of the Sunshine Coast

During the 2023 calendar year, the full-year student numbers at UniSC Moreton Bay, Petrie campus totalled 
4,758. A further 707 students were registered with the Caboolture campus, bringing the total number of UniSC 
students participating in higher education across the city to 5,465.

UniSC Moreton Bay campus graduates.
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Key initiatives update 2023-24  

4.1
Growing Local Industry  
Support key industry sector growth through capacity building, coordinated workforce 
development and strengthening business-to-business (B2B) connections. 

•  On track

During the year, Council supported 2,227 local businesses through 80 events and 1,483 one-on-one service 
activities focused on driving industry advancement and innovation.

4.2

Securing Infrastructure
Support the delivery of region building projects including The Mill at Moreton Bay, SEQ 
Northern Freight Terminal, Wamuran Irrigation Scheme, North Harbour Priority Development 
Area, and Scarborough Harbour Masterplan through evidence based advocacy and policy 
design to realise infrastructure and business investment and contribute to the REDS goals. 

•  On track

Progress was made on region building projects throughout the year. UniSC completed a $100 million, 12,500 
sqm expansion to cater for the growing student cohort at The Mill. Unitywater completed construction on the 
Wamuran Irrigation Scheme’s new distribution network, part of a $120 million project, and North Harbour sold 
out its stage one industrial estate, while the Queensland Government released its draft Scarborough Harbour  
Master Plan.

4.3

Investment Attraction Opportunities 
Grow inward trade and investment and Moreton Bay’s reputation as a desirable business 
and investment destination through targeted investment attraction campaigns, sound 
business friendly processes and improved digital infrastructure, with a focus on knowledge 
based industries.

•  On track

‘Invest Moreton Bay’ promotions and targeted domestic and international campaigns supported the 
generation of 179 investment leads worth $1.37 billion in capital works expenditure and five investment wins 
that are expected to inject $193.1 million into the local economy.

4.4

Knowledge and Innovation Hub 
Establish an entrepreneurial hub targeted at businesses with high growth ambitions and 
foster local entrepreneurial capabilities by enhancing and supporting our existing local 
innovation ecosystem and enhancing a culture of innovation and entrepreneurship. 

•  On watch

The UniSC Moreton Bay ‘Launch Pad’ was launched in partnership with Council as a hub for innovative 
businesses and entrepreneurs committed to making genuine contributions to the local economy, creating jobs 
and driving innovation to benefit the future of UniSC Moreton Bay, the Mill at Moreton Bay and the city in years 
to come. Although the Launch Pad provides an anchor for a future knowledge and innovation hub, further 
investigation into a larger scale hub is required.

4.5

Embracing Shared Leadership 
Cultivate and harness industry and community leadership to drive collaboration with 
and across government, streamline advocacy efforts and strengthen our Moreton Bay’s 
business identity. 

•  On track

Council’s leadership delivery was marked by proactive engagement with industry and government stakeholder, 
including eight online stakeholder briefings, two in-person events, and three taskforce meetings.

4.6

Leveraging the Olympics Opportunity 
Position Moreton Bay to play a key role in the lead up to and delivery of the 2032 Olympic 
and Paralympic Games by securing new sporting venues and tourism experiences and 
relevant industry development investment. Continue to support the attraction and delivery 
of key festivals and major events to build the reputation of our Moreton Bay economy. 

•  On track

Council has continued to work with key partners to secure a $205 million investment into the development 
of a state-of-the-art sports centre in Moreton Bay. This will be a key venue for the 2032 Brisbane Olympics 
and Paralympics.

UniSC Moreton Bay campus graduates.



Our Engaged 
Council

Our goal

Our Council will be an accountable, transparent, engaged 
and responsive organisation committed to great customer 
experiences and continuous innovation in service delivery.

Our outcomes
1.	 We are leaders in good governance and sustainably manage our finances and assets. 

2.	 We actively plan for the future and advocate in the best interests of our communities.

3.	 Our communities are engaged, heard and informed. 

4.	 We are responsive, trusted and provide great customer experiences.

5.	 We harness technologies to drive innovation, efficiencies and informed decision-making. 

6.	 Our teams are safe, inclusive, capable, and empowered to deliver their best.
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Outcomes update 2023-24

Outcome Status

We are leaders in good governance and sustainably manage our 
finances and assets. 

•  On track

We actively plan for the future and advocate in the best interests of 
our communities. 

•  On track

Our communities are engaged, heard and informed. •  On track

We are responsive, trusted and provide great customer experiences. •  On track

We harness technologies to drive innovation, efficiencies and informed 
decision-making. 

•  On track

Our teams are safe, inclusive, capable, and empowered to deliver  
their best. 

•  On track
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Reconciliation with Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Peoples 
In December 2023, we adopted our inaugural ‘Innovate’ Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), marking 
a significant step in our reconciliation journey. This plan has been informed by representatives of 
the Jinibara, Kabi Kabi, and Turrbal peoples, local community Elders and Council staff. It serves 
as a foundation for building respectful relationships, stronger partnerships, and meaningful 
opportunities.  

Our RAP focuses on enhancing our cultural capability as an organisation, improving recruitment 
and procurement practices to support Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander staff and businesses, 
and fostering better community relationships. Although this is a two-year plan, our commitment 
to reconciliation is long-term, and we will continue to take genuine and sustainable actions 
toward reconciliation. 

We aim for a city in which Traditional Custodians and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities see us as an advocate and partner. We want our staff to have the knowledge to 
support reconciliation in practical, heartfelt ways that ensure we combat racism while promoting 
equality, and equity and opportunities for all.

The cover artwork for our Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan was designed by First Nations contemporary  
artist Jenny Kent.

The artwork incorporates representations of the Moreton Bay’s landscapes, ranges and bays, as well as native flora 
and fauna such as the koala, native bees, emu, kangaroo, wallaby, goanna, bush berries, seeds, flowers, eucalypts 
and grasses.
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Key highlights 2023-24

City of Moreton Bay launched   
Council formally launched City of Moreton Bay as Australia's newest city on Friday 21 July 2023. 
Since then, Council has created a new brand identity signifying the start of a transformative 
journey. Digital assets have been updated with refreshed branding while physical assets have 
been updated as operationally required throughout the year in line with our commitment to 
keep this a cost minimal exercise. 

New Local Laws
Council adopted its suite of 13 new Local Laws following extensive community consultation to 
ensure they meet the contemporary needs, expectations and lifestyles of our communities. There 
will be a continuous focus on community education and awareness to improve understanding 
and compliance outcomes.

Strategic Procurement Framework  

Council’s new strategic procurement framework commenced on 1 February 2024, marking 
a significant milestone. The new framework will drive best practice strategic procurement 
processes, enabling greater cost savings and better outcomes for our local suppliers and capital 
program delivery moving forward.

Employee Value Proposition   
Council launched a new employee value proposition to strengthen our ability to attract and 
retain top talent. Council’s 'Your Future City. See It. Shape It. Live It' brand reinforces what it means 
to work for City of Moreton Bay, embedding Council’s vision and values into all touch points of the 
employee lifecycle moving forward. It communicates Council’s commitment to fostering a positive 
and motivating work environment.

Organisational Excellence Strategy   

The Organisational Excellence Strategy 2042 focuses on our planning, processes, technology, 
people and culture. Year one priorities from the Organisational Excellence Strategy 2042 were 
delivered, including further alignment of Council strategies and plans, Moreton Says program 
review and strategic procurement framework commencement. There has been a continuous 
focus on embedding Council’s governance and community engagement frameworks in Council 
business. 

Commitment to Business Improvement   

An organisation committed to excellence strives and motivates employees to deliver consistent 
and outstanding service to customers and stakeholders. Council’s approach to organisational 
excellence will be a continuous improvement journey. Some of the key business improvement 
activities undertaken by Council this year include an Organisational structure review, new 
meeting management system design phase, new safety incident management system design 
phase and employee engagement survey.
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Measures of success update 2023-24

Community trust in Council is greater 
Community trust and approval ratings

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch
2.8 out of 5 - trust
3.0 out of 5 - approval 
(2021-22) 

2.6 out of 5 - trust   
2.9 out of 5 - approval 
(2023-24) 

Moreton Says Surveys 
March 2023 and 
September 2023

The Moreton Says Anchor Survey conducted in April 2021 established the baseline for our trust and approval 
ratings. Since then, the average trust scores have ranged from 2.6 to 2.8 out of 5, and approval scores from 2.9 
to 3.1 showing a steady trend. These results show communities continue to hold moderate levels of trust and 
approval for Council and there is room to improve by focusing on open communication, transparency and 
responsiveness to community feedback. 

Increased customer satisfaction with Council responsiveness 
Council responsiveness rating

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
2.8 out of 5 
(2021-22)

2.8 out of 5 
(2023-24)

Moreton Says Surveys 
March 2023 and 
September 2023

The Moreton Says Anchor Survey conducted in April 2021 established the baseline figure for our responsiveness 
ratings.  Since then, the average responsiveness scores have ranged from 2.8 to 3.0 out of 5 showing an overall 
positive trend.  However, the results reveal that a significant proportion of community members are still 
responding with a neutral score indicating Council needs to continue demonstrating they are willing and active 
participants in a conversation about current services and the future of the city.

Improved opportunities for communities to connect and engage with Council  
Percentage increase of registered users of Your Say Moreton Bay platform

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 10% (2021-22) 45% (2023-24)
Metadata from Your Say 
Moreton Bay platform

The number of registered users of Council’s online engagement platform, Your Say Moreton Bay (YSMB), grew 
from 5,777 to 8,419 (an increase of 45%) during 2023-24. Registration is not mandatory to participate in every 
feedback opportunity hosted on the YSMB platform. During the year, about 60% of contributions came from 
registered users. 

1.	 Average number of respondents for Moreton Says surveys 
2.	 Respondent return rate for Moreton Says surveys

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
2,914 average 
respondents 
61.9% return rate (2022-23)

2,898 average 
respondents 
71.7% return rate (2023-24) 

Metadata from Moreton 
Says surveys

Council conducted a Moreton Says survey in August 2023, with 2898 respondents. Of these 71.7% had previously 
completed one or more Moreton Says surveys, showing an increase in return rate compared to 2022-23. 

Council has a target of 2,000 respondents per survey, with a 50% return rate. Achieving at least 2,000 
respondents is well above the minimum of 385 needed for a statistically valid sample, enabling statistically 
valid exploration of sub-samples of the data, for example responses from a particular geographic community 
of interest or other demographic groups. Returning respondents are important for the longitudinal robustness 
of the data set.
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1.	 Percentage of participants who agree that Council has provided fair opportunity to have a say 
about projects

2.	 Satisfaction with Council’s performance in community consultation and engagement 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 60% (2023-24) Baseline established
Community feedback 
via project specific 
engagements 

The percentage of participants in project specific engagement that agreed or strongly agreed they had a fair 
opportunity to have a say was 60% in 2023-24 establishing the baseline for this measure. Council is working 
towards a target of 75%. The Moreton Says survey to be held in August 2024 will establish a baseline for 
satisfaction with Council’s performance in community consultation and engagement for reporting in 2024-25.

Council has the financial capacity to meet its long-term commitments 
Queensland Treasury Corporation credit rating 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
Strong with a Neutral 
Outlook (2023)

Strong with a Neutral 
Outlook (2024)

QTC Credit Rating March 
2023 and 2024

Council’s credit rating indicates adequate operating performance, low leverage, and sufficient capacity to 
meet its financial commitments. Furthermore, it indicates sufficient room to absorb adverse earning shifts and 
maintain adequate debt servicing capacity. 
 
Council’s performance against other key financial ratios and targets is included in the financial statements 
contained within the 2023-24 Annual Report. 

Increased Council spending with local suppliers 
Percentage of Council procurement expenditure spent locally 

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 30% (2022-23) 33% (2023-24) Council systems and data

The percentage of Council annual spend with local businesses was 33% in 2023-24, an increase on the previous 
year. Council is working towards a target of 40% for local procurement spend and continues to proactively 
support local business and industry through our Procurement Policy and Local Preference Operational 
Directive, maximising procurement opportunity to grow and generate employment opportunities within City of 
Moreton Bay.

Increased service innovation through technology and data
Percentage of completed road and footpath defects identified through artificial intelligence

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track
97.52% footpaths
95.42% roads (2022-23)

97.47% footpaths
96.36% roads (2023-24)

Council systems and data

The percentage of completed road and footpath defects identified through our artificial intelligence inspection 
process was over 96% in 2023-24, consistent with the previous year. Council deploys 31 cameras fitted to waste 
collection trucks, e-bikes or council vehicles that are used to monitor asset condition of Council’s road and 
footpath network which is then analysed using artificial intelligence to support defect identification and 
proactive maintenance to improve service levels.
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Registered users of Council’s online customer request portal

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 70,267 (2022-23) 72,055 (2023-24) TechOne data analytics

The number of registered users of Council’s online customer request portal grew from 70,267 to 72,055 (an 
increase of 2.5%) in 2023-24. Comparatively, the number of customer requests raised decreased from 180,991 
in 2022-23 to 169,955 in 2023-24 which may be attributed to requests following the severe weather event in 
February-April 2022 and launch of Council’s Snap, Send, Solve app in October 2023 as an alternative  
request pathway.

Registered users of Council’s Snap, Send, Solve mobile app

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 5,707 (2023-24) Baseline established
Snap, Send, Solve app 
analytics 

Council launched its new mobile app platform ‘Snap, Send, Solve’ in October 2023, replacing the MBRC Request 
app.  The new app offers a more user-friendly and simpler way to report issues throughout the city for example 
fallen trees, potholes, damaged footpaths or illegal dumping. Council is anticipating the number of requests 
received through the Snap, Send, Solve app will increase over the coming years. 

Council infrastructure meets the needs of our growing population 
Percentage of total budgeted capital program delivered annually

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On watch 99% (2022-23) 87% (2023-24) Council systems and data

Council delivered $264 million of its $303 million capital program in 2023-24, compared to $265.6 million of 
$267.8 million in 2022-23. Approximately 72% of the project portfolio was reported as complete at the end of 
2023-24. The remaining projects were impacted by design complexities, wet weather, contractor and material 
supply availability and internal resourcing challenges. Continued business improvement has been a focus over 
the year, alongside plans to stand up a new Project Management Office (PMO) to support more consistent 
delivery outcomes in 2024-25. 

Improved team member engagement, safety and well-being 
Percentage of team members that would like to be working at Council in the next 12 months

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 77% (2021-22) 87% (2023-24)
Working@MBRC 
Survey 2021, Employee 
Engagement Survey 2023

Results from Council’s Employee Engagement Survey conducted in November 2023 showed that 87% of team 
members reported they were favourable or neutral to continuing to work at Council in the next 12 months, 
an increase in positive sentiment since the last survey. Council has continued to promote flexible work 
arrangements, the annual Love CMB Awards event, access to education assistance, long service recognition 
and promotion of employee career stories.

Percentage of team members that feel safety is a key priority at Council

Status Baseline Progress Source

•  On track 73% (2021) 77% (2023)
Working@MBRC 
Survey 2021, Employee 
Engagement Survey 2023

Results from the Employee Engagement Survey conducted in November 2023 showed that 77% of team 
members reported that safety is a key priority at Council, an improvement compared to the last survey. All 
items relating to safety rated above the high-performance threshold of 70% indicating that the safety culture 
at Council is sound and well established. 
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Key initiatives update 2023-24  

5.1
Place Brand Initiative   
Develop and communicate a destination brand that reflects the unique identity of 
our Moreton Bay and supports our future aspirations. 

•  On track

City of Moreton Bay’s refreshed brand was launched in late July 2023 signifying the start of a transformative 
journey for Council. The brand identity uses the same colours and elements of the previous logo with a 
modernised design to reflect our coming-of-age. In line with Council’s commitment to keep this a cost minimal 
exercise, digital assets have been updated with refreshed branding while physical assets have been updated 
as operationally required throughout the year. 

5.2

Moreton Bay City Proposal   
Develop a submission to change our classification from a ‘Regional’ to ‘City’ Council 
in consultation with our communities and harness an unprecedented opportunity 
for our Moreton Bay to be a new kind of city. 

•  Completed

Council’s request to the Local Government Change Commission to be reclassified as a city was successfully 
granted. Council launched City of Moreton Bay as Australia's newest city on Friday 21 July 2023. Council received 
a Commendation Award for Planning Excellence for the Moreton Bay City Vision at the 2023 Queensland 
Planning Institute of Australia Awards. 

5.3

Brisbane Olympic Games Legacy  
Explore funding and advocate for other long-term social, environmental, and 
infrastructure opportunities for our communities to capitalise on the 2032 Olympics 
and Paralympics and ensure lasting and sustainable benefits through the Mayor’s 
2032 Legacy Working Group. 

•  On track

The Mayor’s 2032 Legacy Working Group convened throughout 2023, welcoming new education and Indigenous 
sector representatives. A key workshop was held with a focus on preventative health and legacy for the 2032 
Games, which included working group members, additional local representatives from Moreton Bay and other 
interstate and sector experts. 

5.4

The Mill at Moreton Bay Governance   
Continue to support the effective operation of our beneficial enterprise, Millovate, 
to oversee the successful development and activation of The Mill at Moreton Bay as 
a landmark destination. 

•  On track

Millovate Pty Ltd, and its board continued to oversee development and governance of the The Mill at 
Moreton Bay during the year. Council resolved to realign the responsibility for the strategic development and 
governance of The Mill in June, bringing its development back into Council from end September 2024, as the 
precinct now incorporates a significant Brisbane 2032 Olympics and Paralympics venue. 

5.5

Reconciliation Program  
Continue to improve council’s capacity to deliver positive outcomes for our 
Traditional Owners and all First Nations communities through responsive policy as 
well as cultural awareness and training for council team members. 

•  On track

Council's Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) was adopted by Council on 13 December 2023. 
Implementation of the two-year plan commenced and will continue during 2024-25.

5.6
Local Laws Review  
Progress the review and implementation of our suite of new local laws to respond 
to the current and future needs of our communities. 

•  Completed

Council’s Local Laws Review Project was completed with the adoption of the new Local Laws by Council on 8 
December 2023. A staged implementation of these laws and related policy changes is continuing along with 
ongoing community education. 
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5.7

Strategic Procurement Framework
Deliver a new framework to support strategic procurement practices which enable 
time and cost savings and better outcomes for our local suppliers and capital 
program delivery. 

•  Completed

Council implemented a new strategic procurement framework effective from 1 February 2024. A revised 
Contract Manual and Contracting Plan were adopted as part of this transition followed by other contracting 
and purchasing arrangement improvements. The new framework will support strategic procurement practices 
which enable cost savings and better outcomes for our local suppliers and capital program delivery. 

5.8

Data-Driven Asset Management  
Continue to transform our asset management capabilities through improvements 
to planning and technology that enables more efficient use of data to optimise 
reactive versus planned maintenance and investment. 

•  On track

Council continues to review and improve data collection processes to build on existing knowledge of the assets 
and asset performance, including exploration of innovative ways to exploit existing data. Council’s program for 
development of new capability using computer vision and artificial intelligence to reduce the time and cost for 
data collection remains on track.

5.9

Community Engagement Framework
Deliver a renewed Community Engagement Policy and Framework to provide us 
with a clear, consistent and effective approach to engaging with our communities 
on matters which are important. 

•  Completed

Council adopted a new community engagement policy and framework in 2022. These are being updated to 
align with the transition to City of Moreton Bay and new Council branding.

5.10

Moreton Says Program 
Continue to deliver our Moreton Says engagement program to provide more 
opportunities for our communities to contribute to shaping our current programs 
and planning for the future. 

•  On track

Council delivered the Moreton Says Pulse survey in August 2023, the final survey of the initial three-year 
program. The program has been reviewed and realigned to support Council’s performance reporting and 
strategy outcomes. The next three-year program of Moreton Says has been planned with new consultant .id 
incorporating additional initiatives designed to make the survey more accessible and encourage greater 
participation from past underrepresented groups.

5.11

Technology Program  
Continue to deliver innovative business systems and digital processes to drive more 
integrated service delivery, improved customer experience and data informed 
decision making. 

•  On track

Council continued to embed its enterprise technology system to support broader operations. There has been 
a continuous focus on automating processes, improving data analytics and streamlining ICT service requests 
with the establishment of a new internal service desk system. A major review was undertaken during the year 
resulting in a project to enhance Council’s customer request management approach with the integration of 
artificial intelligence to commence in 2024-25.   

Council has also increased its focus on information and cyber security with the establishment of a new 
cyber security operations centre and security incident management system enabling 24/7 monitoring of our 
technology environment.    

Digital transformation priorities advanced with planning for the development of a digital action plan (Our 
Digital Future Plan) that will outline our innovation and digital future goals, focus areas and actions to develop 
new and innovative solutions to provide seamless, simpler and consistent digital experiences.
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Fast facts

Commendation Award for 
Planning Excellence for Council’s 

Moreton Bay City Vision at the 
2023 Queensland Planning 

Institute of Australia Awards.

52,200 visitors to the Your Say 
Moreton Bay online community 

engagement platform with 138,662 
page views. 

Actioned 34,425 road and 
footpath defect work orders.

Council launched  
City of Moreton Bay on  

21 July 2023.

169,955 customer requests 
lodged through Council’s 
customer request portal.

Recorded the replacement of 
5 buildings, 17km of pathways, 

6km of stormwater pipe on 
top of the large volume of 

roads that were resurfaced or 
rehabilitated throughout  

the year. 

We delivered
47 free or low-cost 
community events 

attracting over 100,000 
attendees.

Actioned almost 5,000 asset 
transactions from around 1,000 

capital projects and development 
applications recording the 

addition of 33 new buildings, 23km 
of roads, 48km of pathways and 

32km of new stormwater pipes into 
Council’s asset database.

Answered 214,363 
customer enquiries with 
an average wait time of 

89 seconds. 

Nearly 2 million users 
visited City of Moreton Bay’s 

website, up 5% from the 
previous year.

465 new employees joined 
our workforce.

We sent out over 84,000 
animal registration  

renewal notices.



Governance
Council is committed to good governance. Good governance refers to the way decisions are 
made and the manner in which services are provided to the community. Good governance 
includes having effective structures, systems, processes, procedures, and culture in place to ensure 
Council properly fulfils its purpose as a public authority, and is compliant with all  
relevant legislation.

Council meetings
Council meetings are comprised of Ordinary General Meetings, Special Meetings, Standing 
Committee Meetings and Advisory Committee Meetings. 

General Meetings are held on Wednesdays each fortnight, commencing at 9.30am throughout 
the year (except scheduled breaks). Standing Committees are held on an as-needed basis as 
determined by resolution of Council. 

Members of the public may attend General and Standing Committee meetings which are held 
on a rotational basis (or as required) at the offices below:

General Meetings are also live-streamed, accessible via a link on Council’s website.

Caboolture Strathpine

2 Hasking Street
Caboolture QLD 4510

220 Gympie Road
Strathpine QLD 4500

Council also conducted Community Council Meetings incorporating its General Meeting at other 
locations within the city during 2023-24 including:

•	 30 August 2023 - South Pine Sports Complex

•	 4 October 2023 - Morayfield Sport and Events Centre

•	 13 December 2023 - Club Pine Rivers

Council’s meeting schedule is published in accordance with 254B of the Local Government 
Regulation 2012 and can be obtained from Council’s customer service centres or viewed via 
Council’s website.
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Attendance at Council meetings
In accordance with section 186 (1)(c) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, details of the 
attendance of Councillors at General Meetings, Special Meetings and Advisory Committees 
during 2023-24 are provided in the table below:

Council’s Delegated Decisions Standing Committee did not meet during this period.

Pursuant to section 254K of the Local Government Regulation 2012, Councillors unable to attend 
meetings in person due to exceptional circumstances, where approved by the Chairperson to 
take part in the meeting by teleconference, are taken to be present at the meeting.

Councillors must seek a leave of absence where they are unable attend a Council meeting due to 
private or business purposes. Approval of leave of absence is at the full discretion of the Council 
or Committee. 

In addition, Councillors attended meetings with Council employees, briefings and  
working group sessions, as well as public meetings and appointments with residents and 
community organisations.

Councillor Division
General Meetings
(including Special  
General Meetings)

Advisory Committee 
Meetings

(Audit Committee)

Number of meetings held from 1 July 2023 to 
30 June 2024

17 5

Cr Peter Flannery (Chairperson) Mayor 16

Cr Brooke Savige 1 14

Cr Mark Booth 2 17

Cr Adam Hain 3 15

Cr Jodie Shipway (Deputy Mayor) 4 17

Cr Sandra Ruck 5 14 5

Cr Karl Winchester 6 16

Cr Yvonne Barlow 7 17

Cr Mick Gillam 
*until 28 March 2024

8 11

Cr Jim Moloney 
*from 5 April 2024

8 6

Cr Cath Tonks 9 17

Cr Matt Constance 10 17 4

Cr Darren Grimwade 11 17 1

Cr Tony Latter 12 17

* The local government quadrennial election was held on 16 March 2024.
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Community Comment
Each General Meeting provides for a community comment session where residents or ratepayers 
can address Council in accordance with Council’s Community Comment Session Policy.

Application forms are available via Council’s website and customer service centres and must be 
received by the Chief Executive Officer seven (7)  days prior to a General Meeting.

Agenda and Minutes
The agenda and minutes of all Council meetings are available on Council’s website or can be 
obtained from any of Council’s customer service centres.

In accordance with section 254D of the Local Government Regulation 2012, the appropriate 
notice of a Council meeting, including the relevant agenda, is available on Council’s website, 
generally at the same time it is made available to the Councillors, or can be obtained from 
Council’s customer service centres.

In accordance with section 254F, the minutes of Council meetings, as well as any relevant reports, 
are generally available for inspection two (2) days after the meeting at which they are adopted.

Standing and Advisory Committees
For the period 1 July 2023 to 29 May 2024, Council had one Standing Committee being the 
Delegated Decisions Committee. Council resolved at its General Meeting on 29 May 2024 to 
discontinue the Committee.

For the period 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024 Council also maintained one Advisory Committee being 
the Audit Committee.

The duties and responsibilities of each Committee are detailed in their respective Terms 
of Reference, developed in accordance with sections 264 and 265 respectively of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012.

Councillor Portfolios
Council has a portfolio system for the purpose of its General Meetings. This system provides for 
Councillors to be assigned specific responsibilities relative to key functions and services of  
the Council.



Council appoints Portfolio Councillors to each of the identified Portfolios, which may be amended 
from time to time by resolution. The Portfolio Councillors facilitate the relevant session of the 
General Meeting where officers’ reports are considered.

For the period 1 July 2023 to 15 May 2024, the portfolios were aligned with the core pillars of 
Council’s strategic planning framework as follows:

1.	 Vibrant Communities

2.	 Healthy Environments

3.	 Well-Planned Places

4.	 Well-Connected Placed

5.	 Progressive Economy

6.	 An Engaged Council

The portfolio responsibilities were amended on 15 May 2024 following the adoption of a new 
organisational structure to reflect four functional groups (City Executive, City Administration, City 
Operations, City Futures). 

As at 30 June 2024 the portfolios were as follows:

Session Portfolio Councillors

1.1 Executive
Cr Peter Flannery 
(Mayor)

Cr Jodie Shipway  
(Deputy Mayor)

1.2 Governance and Administration Cr Sandra Ruck Cr Brooke Savige

1.3 Community Cr Tony Latter Cr Yvonne Barlow

1.4 Transport and Infrastructure Cr Adam Hain Cr Darren Grimwade

1.5 Environment Cr Cath Tonks Cr Jim Moloney

1.6 Economic Development
Cr Jodie Shipway  
(Deputy Mayor)

Cr Matt Constance

1.7 Planning and Development Cr Mark Booth Cr Karl Winchester
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Audit Committee
Council’s Audit Committee is established under section 105(2) of the Local Government Act 
2009 as an Advisory Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for providing independent 
assurance, oversight and advice to Council and the Chief Executive Officer on matters relating to 
financial statement preparation, internal and external audit, internal control, governance, and 
risk management. The committee also actively contributes to Council’s culture of continuous 
improvement.

In accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012 the Audit Committee for 2023-24 was 
comprised of three independent members and two Councillors (and one alternate member).

Composition Role

Stephen Coates Independent Member and Chairperson

Helen Moore Independent Member 

Karishma Darr * from 1 October 2023 Independent Member 

Councillor Sandra Ruck Member

Councillor Jodie Shipway Alternate Member

For the period 1 July 2023 to 5 April 2024

Councillor Matt Constance Member

For the period 5 April 2024 to 30 June 2024

Councillor Darren Grimwade Member

The Chief Executive Officer, Director Finance and Corporate Services, Internal Auditor Manager 
and representatives of the Queensland Audit Office attend Audit Committee meetings as 
standing invitees. Council officers regularly present reports and attend meetings to respond to 
Audit Committee requests for information on matters of relevance to the Committee’s role. 

The Audit Committee meets on a quarterly basis, with additional meetings convened to consider 
the annual financial statements and annual audit planning matters as required. The Audit 
Committee met on the following occasions in 2023-24: 

•	 10 August 2023

•	 5 October 2023

•	 27 November 2023

•	 29 February 2024

•	 23 May 2024

Audit Committee meeting minutes are available via Council’s website.
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Internal Audit
In accordance with section 190(1)(h) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 a report on internal 
audit for the financial year including achievements is outlined below.

Internal Audit operates in accordance with Council’s Internal Audit Policy and Internal Audit 
Charter, which set out the mandate, roles and responsibilities of the function.

Internal Audit is an independent function within Council, with audit and investigation findings 
reported directly to the Chief Executive Officer and the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit 
Manager is responsible for the management of the internal audit function. Council adopts a 
co-sourced model for the provision of internal audit services, with assistance being provided by a 
panel of contracted service providers.

Internal Audit activity is managed via an approved two-year Strategic Internal Audit Plan, while 
the specific internal audits performed each year are outlined in the Annual Internal Audit Plan. 
These plans are reviewed and recommended to the Audit Committee annually.

The scope of internal audit activities is determined through a risk-based strategic and annual 
planning cycle that involves consultation with executive management and Audit Committee 
members to ensure appropriate coverage.

During 2023-24, Internal Audit activities included:  

•	 Enterprise Risk Management 

•	 VicRoads Information Protection Agreement

•	 Payroll – Timesheet Processing Controls

•	 Project Management 

•	 Commercial Lease Management

•	 Accounts Payable

•	 Building and Facilities Access Control

•	 IT Hardware Asset Management 

•	 Environmental Service Contract

•	 Asset Management 
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Details of Councillor Conduct Tribunal decisions and orders made under section 150AR(1)(b)  
of the Act:

Section of the Act Description Number

150I(2)
Orders made about unsuitable meeting conduct  
under section 

0

150IA(2)(b)
Orders made about unsuitable meeting conduct  
of chairperson

0

150AH(1) Orders made for a conduct breach 0

150AR(1)
Decisions, orders and recommendations made  
for misconduct

2

Name of 
Councillor

Description Number

Cr Michael Gillam

Misconduct as defined in section 
176(3)(b)(ii) of the former Act, or 
section 150L(1)(b)(i) of the current 
Act, in that his conduct involved a 
breach of trust for failing to ensure 
his Register of Interests, required to 
be maintained under section 171B 
of the Act, was kept up-to-date.  

The Tribunal ordered that within 
90 days of the date of the 
decision Cr Gillam:
•	 make a public admission of 

misconduct at an ordinary 
General Council meeting.

•	 attend training or 
counselling, at his expense.

•	 pay to the local government 
the amount of $2,167.20.

Cr Adam Hain

Misconduct as defined in section 
150L(1)b(i) of the Act, in that his 
conduct constituted a breach of 
trust placed in him as a councillor, 
either knowingly or recklessly, in 
that his conduct was inconsistent 
with local government principle 
4(2)(e) of the Act being ‘ethical and 
legal behaviour of councillors and 
local government employees’.

The Tribunal ordered that Cr 
Hain be reprimanded.

Councillor Conduct and Performance 
The Local Government Act 2009 (the Act) sets out the roles, responsibilities and obligations  
of Councillors.

Complaints about the conduct of Councillors are to be made, or referred, to the Office of the 
Independent Assessor for investigation.

In accordance with section 186(1)(d) to (k) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 , Councillor 
conduct complaints, referrals, decisions, orders and recommendations during the financial year 
are shown in the tables below:

Number of Councillor Conduct decisions, orders and recommendations:
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Number of Councillor Conduct complaints, notices and referrals:

Section of the Act Description Number

150P(2)(a)
Complaints referred to the Assessor by a local 
government, a councillor or the Chief Executive Officer of 
the local government

4

150P(3)
Matters referred to the Crime and Corruption 
Commission by the local government

0

150R(2)
Notices given by a local government official to the 
Assessor about a councillor’s conduct

0

150S(2)(a)
Notices of misconduct given to the Assessor by the  
local government

0

150AF(3)(a)
Occasions where information about misconduct 
is obtained by the local government during an 
investigation that is given to the Assessor

0

Chapter 5A, part 
3, division 5 of  
the Act

Occasions where the local government asked another 
entity to investigate suspected inappropriate conduct  
of a councillor

0

Chapter 5A, part 
3, division 6 of  
the Act

Applications heard by the conduct tribunal about 
whether a councillor engaged in misconduct or a 
conduct breach

2

150AC(1)
Number of referral notices given to the local government 
from the Assessor

0

150AC(1)
Number of suspected conduct breaches the subject of a 
referral notice from the Assessor

0

150AC(1)
Number of suspected conduct breaches for which an 
investigation was not started or was discontinued under 
section 150AEA

0

150AG(1)
Number of decisions made by the local government 
during the financial year

0

150AG(1)
Number of matters not decided by the local government 
by the end of the financial year

0

150AG(1)
Average time taken by the local government in making  
a decision

0
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Councillor Division
Remuneration from 

1/7/23 to 30/6/24
Superannuation from 

1/7/23 to 30/6/24

Cr Peter Flannery Mayor $244,886 $29,386

Cr Brooke Savige 1 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Mark Booth 2 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Adam Hain 3 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Jodie Shipway 4 / Deputy Mayor $169,671 $20,349

Cr Sandra Ruck 5 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Karl Winchester 6 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Yvonne Barlow 7 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Mick Gillam  
*until 28 March 2024

8 $113,715 $13,646

Cr Jim Moloney  
*from 5 April 2024

8 $34,311 $4,117

Cr Cath Tonks 9 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Matt Constance 10 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Darren Grimwade 11 $148,681 $17,842

Cr Tony Latter 12 $148,681 $17,842

REMUNERATION OF MAYOR,  
DEPUTY MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 
Councillor remuneration is set by the independent Local Government Remuneration Commission 
established under the Local Government Act 2009. The Commission’s Annual Report 2022 
determined the renumeration to be paid for 2023-24 and can be viewed via  
localgovernment.qld.gov.au. 

In accordance with 186(a) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, the total remuneration, 
including superannuation contributions, paid to each Councillor during the 2023-24 financial year 
are as follows:
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EXPENSES AND PROVISION OF 
FACILITIES FOR COUNCILLORS 
In accordance with section 250 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council has a 
Reimbursement of Expenses and Provision of Facilities for Councillors Policy.

This policy ensures the payment of legitimate and reasonable expenses incurred by Councillors 
in discharging their duties and responsibilities, and to provide facilities to Councillors for those 
purposes. 

In accordance with 186(b) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, the following expenses were 
incurred by each Councillor in the 2023-24 financial year.

Councillor Division Total

Cr Peter Flannery Mayor $11,813.29

Cr Brooke Savige 1 $11,226.40

Cr Mark Booth 2 $11,355.34

Cr Adam Hain 3 $7,002.89

Cr Jodie Shipway 4 / Deputy Mayor $6,904.88

Cr Sandra Ruck 5 $10,621.82

Cr Karl Winchester 6 $8,455.39

Cr Yvonne Barlow 7 $8,443.44

Cr Mick Gillam *until 28 March 2024 8 $6,081.42

Cr Jim Moloney *from 5 April 2024 8 $3,309.65

Cr Cath Tonks 9 $8,311.72

Cr Matt Constance 10 $6,657.78

Cr Darren Grimwade 11 $7,488.73

Cr Tony Latter 12 $7,740.08

* The above recorded expenses may include expenses related to Councillor’s Portfolio roles.
* The local government quadrennial election was held on 16 March 2024.



All Councillors were provided with the following facilities under policy:

•	 An office with access to a shared multi-functional device.

•	 Administrative support.

•	 A smartphone.

•	 A tablet or laptop computer with a docking station, keyboard, mouse and monitor.

•	 A docking station, keyboard, mouse and monitor for Council business at home.

•	 Remote access to Council’s network and the internet.

•	 A printer for Council business at home.

•	 Stationery.

•	 Publications, copies of relevant legislation, books and journals related to Council’s business 
operations and local government generally.

•	 Clothing with Council corporate branding to the value of $1,000 per term.

•	 Name badges and any safety equipment.

•	 A marquee and an A-frame sign with Council corporate branding for community activities.

•	 A motor vehicle allowance of $22,578 per annum (increased by CPI from 1 July each year), or a 
fully maintained motor vehicle subject to Council’s Motor Vehicles Policy (Councillors).
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OVERSEAS TRAVEL FOR COUNCILLORS AND STAFF 
In accordance with section 188 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, details of overseas 
travel made by a Councillor or local government employee in an official capacity for the 2023-24 
financial year are as follows: 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION PACKAGES 
In accordance with section 201 of the Local Government Act 2009, the remuneration packages for 
senior management for the financial year 2023-24 are as follows:

Date of 
Travel

Councillor / 
Employee’s 

Name
Position Destination Purpose for Travel Cost

21/10/23 
- 3/11/23

Paul Martins
Chief Economic 
Development 

Officer

Singapore 
and Japan

Attend Hotel Investment 
Conference Asia Pacific 
in Singapore and visit 

Sanyo-Onoda friendship 
city and business 

meetings in Japan.

$13,724.95

Number of Senior 
Management Employees

Number of Senior 
Management Positions

Remuneration Range  
(Total Package)

2 2 $160,000 - $259,000

6 5 $260,000 - $359,000

1 1 $360,000 - $459,000

1 1 $460,000 - $559,000

Total amount paid during reporting period 3,211,514



DISCRETIONARY FUNDS

EXPENDITURE ON DISCRETIONARY FUNDS TO  
COMMUNITY ORGANISATIONS
Council’s Discretionary Funds actively supports community organisations to make a positive 
contribution to community wellbeing and the cultural life of the region. Through this fund, Council 
is able to recognise and support initiatives that respond to community need.

In accordance with section 189 (2) of the Local Government Regulation 2012:

•	 The total amount budgeted for the financial year as Council’s discretionary funds  
was $288,730

•	 The prescribed amount for the financial year was $306,409

•	 The total amount of discretionary funds budgeted for the financial year for Councillors to 
allocate for Capital Works was $0, and other community purposes was $288,730

•	 The amount of discretionary funds budgeted for use by each Councillor for the financial  
year was $22,210.

In accordance with section 189(e) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 the following 
Discretionary Funds have been allocated for other community purposes for the 2023-24  
financial year:

PROCEEDING TABLES BY DIVISIONS 
Cr Peter Flannery (Mayor) 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

24.7.23 $500
Pine Rivers Show - Annual 
Agricultural Horticultural & 
Industrial Association

Prizes for woodchopping event at 
the Pine Rivers Show 

27.7.23 $500
Eatons Hill Community 
Kindergarten Incorporated

NAIDOC Week Celebrations - 
Aboriginal Art Workshops

27.7.23 $500
Genesis Christian  
College Limited 

Event décor, speaker fees and 
marketing for Youth Sports  
Stars Breakfast

7.8.23 $500
The Nest Community 
Incorporated 

Sewing drawer units, sew tables and 
shelving units for The  
Exchange Program

8.8.23 $300
Redcliffe Art Society 
Incorporated 

Awards for Redcliffe Art Society 2023 
Art Exhibition of Excellence 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

8.8.23 $500
Moreton Bay United 
Football Club 

Temporary filming tower for 
Australia FFA Cup game

23.8.23 $400
The Queensland Country 
Women's Association 

Keynote speaker for Queensland 
Country Women's Association 
Southern Region Conference

11.9.23 $300
Multicultural Association 
of Caboolture and 
Surrounds Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

21.9.23 $250
Albany Creek Garden Club 
Incorporated 

Awards for 2023 Show Bench 
Winners 

21.9.23 $500
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

25.10.23 $500
Men's Information and 
Support Association 
Incorporated

Catering and venue hire for 
International Men's Day  
panel discussion

26.10.23 $500
The Railway Modellers' 
Club of Queensland 
Incorporated

Hall hire for the 2023 Pine Rivers 
Model Train & Hobby Expo

31.10.23 $500 Pine Hills Football Club 
Purchase and Installation 
of awnings 

1.11.23 $500 Blind Bats Incorporated Mayor's Inclusive Sport Day 

2.11.23 $300
Kindness for Kids in Care 
Incorporated

Construction of Big Box for the  
Kids-in-Care Christmas Community 
Toy Appeal

16.11.23 $300
Oasis Christian  
Reformed Church

Christmas Dinner and Hampers for 
community members in need

28.11.23 $500
The Carers  
Foundation Australia

Motivational speaker, catering and 
entertainment for Celebrate Carers 
Christmas Luncheon

6.12.23 $500
The Mini Farm  
Project Limited

Whipper snipper, coldroom and food 
products for food production as part 
of the Mini Farm Project

12.12.23 $500
Rotary Club of Samford 
Valley Incorporated 

Australian Citizenship Ceremony 
2024at Samford Community Hall 
(26/1/2024)

14.12.23 $500
Samford District Bowls Club 
Incorporated 

Prizes for Village Bowls and Mens 
Veterans Fraternity League

18.12.23 $500
Woodford A. P. and I. Assoc. 
Incorporated 

Toilet hire for Woodford Rodeo

18.12.23 $200 Zonta Club of Caboolture
Gift bags for International Women's 
Day Luncheon

24.4.24 $1,000
Pine Rivers Koala Care 
Association Incorporated 

Wild Koala Day 2024

81



82

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

17.5.24 $1,200
National Council of 
Women of Queensland 
Incorporated 

2024 National Council of Women of 
Queensland Bursary Program - City 
of Moreton Bay Bursary

20.5.24 $567
Creative Samford 
Incorporated 

Promotional banner flags and 
videos for the Samford and 
Surrounds Art Trail

3.6.24 $1,200
Redcliffe Art Society 
Incorporated 

Awards for 2024 Redcliffe Art Society 
Art Exhibition of Excellence 

5.6.24 $335
Redcliffe AH&I Society 
Incorporated

Stage hire for 2024 Redcliffe Show 

13.6.24 $1,144.70
Narangba Eagles Football 
Club Incorporated 

Barbeque, cake display and ice 
maker for clubhouse canteen 

14.6.24 $1,000
Lions Club of North Lakes 
Incorporated

Barbeque supplies for Real Men 
Stand Up against Domestic  
Violence Rally 

17.6.24 $1,000
Woodford Lions Club 
Incorporated 

Entertainment for Woodford Variety 
Concert

17.6.24

$1500 
$1,994 initially 
approved but reduced 
due to funding 
already provided

D'Aguilar Range District 
Scouts -The Scout 
Association of Australia 
QLD Branch Incorporated 

Branded marquees

19.6.24 $222
Pacific Rim Just for Kids 
Incorporated 

Branded marquee
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

25.7.23 $122 Crime Stoppers Caboolture Shelving for storage shed

7.8.23 $1,269
Bribie Island Community 
Arts Society Incorporated 

Catering for Youth Art Competition 
and Exhibition Presentation

10.8.23 $1,976 6 Mangrove Productions 

Venue hire, catering, laptop, 
tripod and promotional material 
for Practical Theatre Weekend 
Workshop

10.8.23 $2,000
Bongaree Bowls Club 
Incorporated 

Catering for Ladies Mixed Bowls 
Carnival

21.8.23 $1,390
Pumicestone Tri Sports Club 
Incorporated 

Community barbeque, service of 
club equipment and end of season 
presentation meal 

21.8.23 $1,980
Bribie Island Gem 
and Fossicking Club 
Incorporated 

Equipment hire, advertising and 
raffle tickets for Annual Gem Fest 

29.8.23 $1,949 Bribie Jammin 
Sound equipment, performers and 
workshops for the Bribie Island 
Community Music Festival

5.9.23 $2,000 Global Care Bribie Island 
Sound and lighting for Christmas 
Carols in the Park on Bribie Island

6.9.23 $500
U3A Beachmere 
Incorporated 

Laptop for volunteer use

11.9.23 $100
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

28.9.23 $1,000
Pumicestone Indigenous 
Education & Employment 
Council Incorporated

Piano relocation and tuning for 
Call of the Curlew - community 
engagement public piano project

9.10.23 $300
Toorbul Community 
and District Association 
Incorporated 

Entertainment, face painting and 
activity supplies for Christmas 
Markets community event

11.12.23 $2,000 Rotary Club of Bribie Island
Traffic control for New Years Eve 
Family Carnival

23.4.24 $1,968
Bribie Island Swimming 
Club Incorporated 

Medals for end of season 
presentation and supplies for 
fundraising Bunnings BBQ

13.5.24 $1,950
Bribie Aquatic Community 
Events Incorporated 

Food items and signage for the 25th 
Bribie Classic Boat Regatta

3.6.24 $990
Bribie Island State School 
P&C Association

Petting zoo for Centenary 
Celebration event 

Cr Brooke Savige - Division 1 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

5.6.24 $500
Bribie Island Historical 
Society Incorporated 

Printing of brochures, banners, 
programs, tote bags and signs 
for Moreton Bay Bicentenary 
Commemoration Conference 

12.6.24 $216
Churches of Christ Housing 
Services Limited

Catering for Christmas in  
July Luncheon

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

25.7.23 $122 Crime Stoppers Caboolture Shelving for storage shed

3.8.23 $250
North Pine Sports Club 
Incorporated 

Replacement soccer balls

31.8.23 $500
Rotary Club of Redcliffe 
Sunrise Incorporated 

Groceries for Redcliffe Breakfast 
Club for provision to the community

6.9.23 $699
U3A Beachmere 
Incorporated 

Laptop for volunteer use

11.9.23 $300
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

15.9.23 $990
Burpengary Jets Netball 
Club Incorporated 

Installation of steel ember guard 
mesh for Clubhouse shed 

15.9.23 $1,320
Beachmere Art Society 
Incorporated 

Room hire, drop sheets, easels, 
A-frame signage and art supplies for 
monthly art classes

21.9.23 $300
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

1.11.23 $1,000 Blind Bats Incorporated Mayor's Inclusive Sport Day 

2.11.23 $500
Kindness for Kids in Care 
Incorporated

Construction of Big Box for the  
Kids-in-Care Christmas Community  
Toy Appeal

13.11.23 $2,000
Beachmere Community 
Garden Incorporated 

Plumbing services for installation of 
drinking fountain 

29.11.23 $1,000
Destiny Family & 
Community Services 
Limited

Sound hire, stickers and prizes 
for Deception Bay Community 
Skateboarding Competition

12.12.23 $1,054
Neighbourhood Watch 
Australasia

Audio visual and laptop equipment 
for meeting live streaming

Cr Mark Booth - Division 2 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

18.12.23 $250 Zonta Club of Caboolture
Gift bags for International Women's 
Day Luncheon

3.5.24 $200
Narangba Valley Novas 
Netball Club Incorporated 

Prizes for Mother's Day raffle

15.5.24 $2,000
Burpengary Community 
Association Incorporated 

Entertainment for Community Family 
Fun Day

29.5.24 $2,000
Artisans Guild of 
Caboolture & District 
Incorporated 

Advertising, marketing, judging, 
catering and prizes for 2024 
Members Exhibition 

29.5.24 $1,959
The Harrison Payne 
Initiative Incorporated

Prizes for Deadlift Day for Harry 
fundraising event 

5.6.24 $500
Redcliffe AH&I Society 
Incorporated

Stage hire for 2024 Redcliffe Show 

13.6.24 $1,996
Younity Community 
Services Limited

Four laptops for The Younity School

13.6.24 $2,000
Burpengary Community 
Kindergarten

Educational resources

13.6.24 $423.30
Narangba Eagles Football 
Club Incorporated 

Barbeque, cake display and ice 
maker for clubhouse canteen 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

25.7.23 $400 Crime Stoppers Caboolture Shelving for storage shed

25.8.23 $250
Zonta Club of Caboolture 
Incorporated

Hire of Community Hall for a 
fundraising event

7.9.23 

$900 
$1,050 allocated 
however $150 
returned

BPW Caboolture 
Bursary Gift Cards for Student 
Business Awards

11.9.23 $300
Multicultural Association 
of Caboolture and 
Surrounds Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

6.10.23 $2,000 Reclink Australia
PA system, entertainment and 
advertising for Garden and  
Outdoor Expo 

1.11.23 $500 Blind Bats Incorporated Mayor's Inclusive Sport Day 

2.11.23 $400
Kindness for Kids in Care 
Incorporated

Construction of Big Box for the  
Kids-in-Care Christmas Community 
Toy Appeal

Cr Adam Hain - Division 3
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

3.11.23 $300
Caboolture Road Runners 
Incorporated

Laptops for club administration

9.11.23 $1,608
Caboolture Road Runners 
Incorporated

Two laptops for club administration

9.11.23 $2,000
Caboolture & District 
Pastoral, Agricultural & 
Industrial Association

Fireworks for community Christmas 
Twilight Markets

28.11.23 $725
Caboolture Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated 

Portaloos Caboolture Little Athletics 
Twilight Carnival

28.11.23 $1,204
The Caboolture Gem Club 
Incorporated 

Stainless steel benchtop including 
plastic guttering

5.12.23 $500

The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Inc - D'Aguilar 
Range District Scouts

Stationery for monthly training 
meetings 

7.12.23 $500
Bribie Island Community 
Kindergarten  

Entertainment, cultural facilitator, 
catering, chairs and portaloos for 
Changing The Narrative event

12.12.23 $1,499

The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Inc - Morayfield 
Scout Group

Laser printer and toner

12.12.23 $1,560 Caboolture Golf Club
Warm up gym equipment for women 
golfers

12.12.23 $1,632
Antique Machinery 
Restoration Society Qld 
Incorporated 

Supplies for antique machinery 
equipment for display at The Village

19.12.23 $49 Zonta Club of Caboolture
Gift bags for International Women's 
Day Luncheon

10.4.24 $1,000
Equestrian Queensland 
Incorporated 

2024 SEQ Interschool QLD Regional 
Championships

16.4.24 $1,000
Caboolture Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated 

Trophies for end of season event 

15.5.24 $1,350
Caboolture Family History 
Research Group Inc

Printing of posters for Heritage 
Day event

17.5.24 $500
Introspect Theatre 
Company Incorporated 

Adjudicators for Limelight - Moreton 
Bay Arts Showcase Event

11.6.24 $1,083 Genies Netball Club
Portaloo hire, medallions, first aid 
officer, volunteer scoreboard and 
timer for Club Carnival 

14.6.24 $950 BPW Caboolture 
Social Media Coordinator for 
the Caboolture Made Campaign 
collaboration
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Cr Jodie Shipway - Division 4

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

3.8.23 $250
North Pine Sports Club 
Incorporated 

Replacement soccer balls

17.8.23

$1647.64 
$1,905 allocated 
however $257.36 
returned

North Lakes State College 
P&C Association 

Marketing, equipment hire, 
facility costs and movie licence for 
Community Movie Night

28.8.23 $250
Royal Brisbane and 
Women's Hospital 
Foundation 

Equipment, advertising and 
merchandise for Redcliffe Hospital 
Giving Day event 

28.8.23 $2,000
Mango Hill Progress 
Association Incorporated 

Showbags for the Mango Hill 
Christmas Carols 

6.9.23 $1,400
Lakers Softball Club 
Incorporated 

Training balls, bases, bats and 
protective helmets and face masks

19.9.23 $2,000
Y- Care (Southeast 
Queensland) Incorporated

Venue hire and catering for YMCA 
Vocational School Formal

21.9.23 $100
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

27.9.23 $250
Strathpine Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated 

iPad, printer and trivia night prizes 

12.10.23 $150 Jazz Netball Incorporated Netball training bibs 

24.10.23 $150
Pasifika Families 
Incorporated 

Entertainment and catering for 
Diwali Women's community event 

31.10.23 $500
Rotary Club of Kippa Ring 
North Lakes Incorporated

Laptop for club administration

28.11.23 $1,204
The Caboolture Gem Club 
Incorporated 

Stainless steel benchtop including 
plastic guttering

2.11.23 $100
Kindness for Kids in Care 
Incorporated

Construction of Big Box for the  
Kids-in-Care Christmas Community 
Toy Appeal

28.11.23 $1,500
The Carers Foundation 
Australia

Motivational speaker, catering and 
entertainment for Celebrate Carers 
Christmas Luncheon

28.11.23 $2,000
North Lakes United Football 
Club Incorporated 

Furniture for new deck at Kinsellas 
Road Sports Complex 

6.12.23 $702.50
The Mini Farm Project 
Limited

Whipper snipper, coldroom and food 
products for food production as part 
of the Mini Farm Project

11.12.23 $2,000
The Lakes College 
Community Association

Equipment hire for Picnic in the Park 
2024 Event



Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

14.12.23 $500
Samford District Bowls Club 
Incorporated 

Prizes for Village Bowls and Mens 
Veterans Fraternity League

22.4.24 $1,959
North Lakes Leopards 
Junior Rugby Union Club 
Incorporated

Training equipment and water 
bottles 

2.5.24 $2,000
North Lakes Blues  
Netball Club 

Security cameras for clubhouse 

13.6.24 $691
Lions Club of North Lakes 
Incorporated

Catering and awards for Children of 
Courage Ceremony

13.6.24 $2,000
Riverside Wesleyan 
Methodist Church

Fruit boxes for Food for Kids Program
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Cr Sandra Ruck - Division 5 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

3.8.23 $2,000
Australian School of 
Meditation and Yoga 

Hall hire, presenter, photographer, 
marketing, catering and kits for 
Mediation Workshop and Retreat

8.8.23 $250
Redcliffe Art Society 
Incorporated 

Awards for Redcliffe Art Society 2023 
Art Exhibition of Excellence 

8.8.23 $600 Mueller College Limited
Year 11 and Year 12 Moreton Bay 
Civic Awards for Presentation 
Evening

8.8.23 $1,837
Southern Cross Catholic 
College Parents and 
Friends Association

RYDA Road Safety Awareness 
Program and transport for Year 10 
students

8.8.23 $2,000
Deception Bay Football 
Club Incorporated 

Replacement bain-marie

28.8.23 $447
Royal Brisbane and 
Women's Hospital 
Foundation 

Equipment, advertising and 
merchandise for Redcliffe Hospital 
Giving Day event 

31.8.23 $500
Rotary Club of Redcliffe 
Sunrise Incorporated 

Groceries for Redcliffe Breakfast 
Club for provision to the community

11.9.23 $200
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

14.9.23 $2,000
Deception Bay Gem 
and Allied Crafts Club 
Incorporated

Security alarm system 

8.11.23 $2,000
Redcliffe Peninsula Game & 
Sportfish Club Incorporated 

Catering for Redcliffe Australia Day 
Billfish Tournament
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

8.11.23 $2,000
Deception Bay Meals on 
Wheels Incorporated 

Computer equipment 

14.11.23 $2,000
Aiga Samoa Association 
North Brisbane Inc

Venue hire, entertainment and 
catering for Maota Fono Community 
20-year celebration

8.11.23 $2,000
Redcliffe Peninsula Game & 
Sportfish Club Incorporated 

Catering for Redcliffe Australia Day 
Billfish Tournament

8.11.23 $2,000
Deception Bay Meals on 
Wheels Incorporated 

Computer equipment 

14.11.23 $2,000
Aiga Samoa Association 
North Brisbane Inc

Venue hire, entertainment and 
catering for Maota Fono Community 
20-year celebration

29.11.23 $323
Destiny Family & 
Community Services 
Limited

Sound hire, stickers and prizes 
for Deception Bay Community 
Skateboarding Competition

2.5.24 $1,947 Moreton Bay Gateball Club 
Scoreboards for tournaments  
and events

3.5.24 $1,738
Peninsula Fair Darts 
Association 

Commercial vacuum cleaner 

21.5.24 $1,070
Redcliffe Red Dragon Boat 
Club Incorporated 

Photo booth, food van and trophies 
for the Presentation Award Night

31.5.24 $798 Bel Canto Singers
Venue hire, musical director fee and 
artist performance fees for Musical 
Concert Soiree

Cr Karl Winchester - Division 6 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

20.7.23 $2,000
Repair Cafe Redcliffe 
Peninsula Incorporated 

Portable RCD & ARC Protection Unit, 
bike maintenance tools. LED Desk 
Mount Magnifying Lamp, Magnifier 
Head Goggles, flags and safety 
aprons for volunteer use, and food 
supplies for fundraiser

8.8.23 $250
Redcliffe Art Society 
Incorporated 

Awards for Redcliffe Art Society 2023 
Art Exhibition of Excellence 

8.8.23 $764
Humpybong State 
School Parents & Citizens 
Association

Replacement chest freezer and 
major prize for end of year 
fundraising raffle

28.8.23 $1,300
Royal Brisbane and 
Women's Hospital 
Foundation 

Equipment, advertising, and 
merchandise for Redcliffe Hospital 
Giving Day event 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

31.8.23 $500
Rotary Club of Redcliffe 
Sunrise Incorporated 

Groceries for Redcliffe Breakfast 
Club for provision to the community

31.8.23 $1,614
S Triple C Redcliffe 
Incorporated 

Office chairs 

8.9.23 $660
Zonta Club of Redcliffe 
Incorporated 

Chair hire and catering for Zonta 
Flags United Nations Ceremony

11.9.23 $2,000
Encircle Community 
Services Limited 

Banners and signage for Moreton 
Bay Says No to Violence is an annual 
March

26.9.23 $1,980  Heartland Christian Church Industrial refrigerator

27.10.23 $450
Eildon Croquet Club 
Incorporated

Catering and prizes for Eildon 
Invitational Croquet Tournament

27.10.23 $2,000
Redcliffe Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated

Field lighting pole repairs 

31.10.23 $500
Rotary Club of Kippa Ring 
North Lakes Incorporated

Laptop for club administration

6.11.23 $1,122
Redcliffe Subsection of the 
Naval Association 

Shelter and seating for the HMQS 
Gayundah Memorial dedication  
and HMAS Sydney 2 commemoration 
service

20.11.23 $1,517.50
UCA - Redcliffe Peninsula 
Parish

Television and mobile stand for 
Redcliffe Community Hub 

30.4.24 $100
Rotary Redcliffe Sunrise 
Incorporated 

Groceries for Redcliffe Breakfast 
Club 

30.4.24 $1,288
Redcliffe and District 
Woodcraft Society 
Incorporated 

Trade space hire, meals, laundering 
and stationery for the Redcliffe 
Show

15.5.24 $1,000

Royal Australian Air Force 
Association Queensland 
Division INC. Redcliffe 
Branch

Annual Assembly of Delegates, 
Queensland Division

17.5.24 $900 Redcliffe Writers Group 
Signage, flyers and catering for 
Sydney Writers Festival Live & Local 
at Redcliffe Library

17.5.24 $200
Redcliffe Mums 
Incorporated 

Pull up banners for fundraising 
events and community 
engagements

23.5.24 $200
Rotary Redcliffe Sunrise 
Incorporated 

Waders for Adopt a River Initiative 

31.5.24 $499
Anglican Parish of Bramble 
Bay

Publicity, advertising costs and 
artwork hanging costs for Annual 
Redcliffe Floral and Art Festival

5.6.24 $1,165
Redcliffe AH&I Society 
Incorporated

Stage hire for 2024 Redcliffe Show 
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Cr Yvonne Barlow - Division 7 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

24.7.23 $500
Pine Rivers Show - Annual 
Agricultural Horticultural & 
Industrial Association

Prizes for woodchopping event at 
the Pine Rivers Show 

27.7.23 $200
Genesis Christian College 
Limited 

Event décor, speaker fees and 
marketing for Youth Sports Stars 
Breakfast

3.8.23 $500
North Pine Sports Club 
Incorporated 

Replacement soccer balls

9.8.23 $200
Zonta Club of Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Cinema hire and screen licence for 16 
Days of Activism movie screening 

16.8.23 $910
Pine Rivers Kindergarten 
Association

Cookie Decoration Station, 
Entertainment and Face Painting for 
Pine Rivers Kindy Open Day

23.8.23 $300
The Queensland Country 
Women's Association 

Keynote speaker for Queensland 
Country Women's Association 
Southern Region Conference

29.8.23 $2,000
U3A Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Catering for a 30-year anniversary 
celebration lunch

11.9.23 $100
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

21.9.23 $500
1st Moreton Bay Boys' 
Brigade

Marquee for outdoor activities

27.9.23 $250
Strathpine Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated 

iPad, printer and trivia night prizes 

10.10.23 $1,500 Kallangur State School 
Delta Therapy Dogs Classroom 
Canines Program 

10.10.23 $1,500 Undurba State School P&C LED portable signage board

12.10.23 $150 Jazz Netball Incorporated Netball training bibs 

24.10.23 $150
Pasifika Families 
Incorporated 

Entertainment and catering for 
Diwali Women's community event 

3.11.23 $1,000
Murrumba Downs Social 
Committee

Catering for community Christmas 
lunch 

16.11.23 $100
 Oasis Christian Reformed 
Church

Christmas dinner and hampers for 
community members in need

28.11.23 $2,000
Lions Club of Kallangur 
Incorporated 

Catering for community Christmas 
dinner 

6.12.23 $2,000
Pine Rivers Senior Citizens 
Club Incorporated

Catering for Volunteers Christmas 
lunch 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

13.12.23 $250
Youth & Families 
Association of Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Glass whiteboard and  
indigenous art

22.4.24 $100

Returned & Services League 
of Australia (Queensland 
Branch) Pine Rivers District 
Sub-Branch Incorporated

Food items for ANZAC Day 2024 
Gunfire Breakfast

29.5.24 $331
Pine Rivers Municipal Brass 
Band Incorporated 

Stage hire for Pine Rivers Brass Band 
Concert 

12.6.24 $1,844 Kallangur Scout Group Flags and first aid kits

14.6.24 $2,000
Living Faith Lutheran 
Church

Defibrillator

17.6.24 $2,000 Dakabin State School Musical instruments

Cr Mick Gillam - Division 8  |  until 28 March 2024

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

24.7.23 $500
Pine Rivers Show - Annual 
Agricultural Horticultural & 
Industrial Association

Prizes for woodchopping event at 
the Pine Rivers Show 

27.7.23 $200
Genesis Christian College 
Limited 

Event décor, speaker fees and 
marketing for Youth Sports Stars 
Breakfast

4.8.23 $750
Lawnton Kindergarten 
Preschool Association 
Incorporated 

Hire of Animal Farm for 2023 Family 
Fun Day

4.8.23 $999 Strathpine State School 
Hire of BMX Stunt Show to perform 
at Wellbeing Festival

9.8.23 $100
Zonta Club of Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Cinema hire and screen licence for 16 
Days of Activism movie screening 

16.8.23 $1,000
South Pine Community 
Kindergarten Association 
Incorporated 

Installation of replacement 
perimeter fence

23.8.23 $250
Genesis Christian College 
Limited 

Engineering Bursary Award 

23.8.23 $400
The Queensland Country 
Women's Association 

Keynote speaker for Queensland 
Country Women's Association 
Southern Region Conference

31.8.23 $1,761
Pine Rivers Bears Junior 
Rugby League Club 
Incorporated 

2023 Junior Club trophies
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

11.9.23 $300
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

14.9.23 $500
PRIME Community Band 
Incorporated

Performance props, music and 
advertising banner to for band 
performances

18.9.23 $600 Bray Park State High School
Bursary awards for Academic and 
Sports Awards Night

20.9.23 $360
Lawnton Swim Club 
Incorporated

Dunk Tank hire for Aussie Arvo event 

20.9.23 $667
Pine Rivers Municipal Brass 
Band Incorporated 

Stage hire for Pine Rivers Municipal 
Brass Band Concert 

20.9.23 $1,000
Lawnton Swim Club 
Incorporated

Commercial barbeque

21.9.23 $100
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

27.9.23 $250
Strathpine Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated 

iPad, printer and trivia night prizes 

12.10.23 $375 Jazz Netball Incorporated Netball training bibs 

24.10.23 $70 Holy Spirit School Bray Park
Awards and trophies for the Year 6 
Graduation Award Ceremony

24.10.23 $150
Pasifika Families 
Incorporated 

Entertainment and catering for 
Diwali Women's community event 

24.10.23 $750
Strathpine West State 
School P&C Association

Sound and lighting for the 2023 
Christmas Concert 

25.10.23 $150
Men's Information and 
Support Association 
Incorporated

Catering and venue hire for 
International Men's Day panel 
discussion

26.10.23 $1,000
The Railway Modellers' 
Club of Queensland 
Incorporated

Hall hire for the 2023 Pine Rivers 
Model Train & Hobby Expo

16.11.23 $180
Lawnton Kindergarten 
Preschool Association Inc 

Provisions for sausage sizzle 
fundraiser

16.11.23 $200
Oasis Christian Reformed 
Church

Christmas dinner and hampers for 
community members in need

17.11.23 $150 Wantima Country Club
Trophies for the Veteran Golfers end 
of season awards

20.11.23 $1,485 Bray Park State School  School Honour Board

30.11.23 $828
Pine Rivers Netball 
Association

UHF true diversity wireless receiver 
for PA system 



Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

30.11.23 $1,079
Lawnton State Primary 
School P&C Association 

Barbeque for fundraising events 

7.12.23 $100
Crime Stoppers 
Queensland Limited

Food supplies for Bunnings sausage 
sizzle fundraiser

14.12.23 $100
Samford District Bowls Club 
Incorporated 

Prizes for Village Bowls and Mens 
Veterans Fraternity League

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

15.5.24 $2,000 Pine Central Sports Club Inc Dishwasher for canteen

22.5.24 $260 Bray Park State School
Ingredients and activity supplies for 
Early Years Celebration Day

29.5.24 $332
Pine Rivers Municipal Brass 
Band Incorporated 

Stage hire for Pine Rivers Brass Band 
Concert 

5.6.24 $998
Kurwongbah Primary P&C 
Association

Basic Life Support First Responders 
for School Fete

18.6.24 $663
Southpine Community 
Kindergarten Association 
Incorporated 

MLAK locking system for access 
gates 

18.6.24 $1,303
Strathpine Community 
Kindergarten & Preschool 
Incorporated

Entertainer, jumping castle and 
disco party for Kindy Carnival

18.6.24 $300
Pine Rivers Ladies Bowling 
Club Incorporated 

Ladies Two Bowl Triples Carnival

Cr Jim Moloney - Division 8  |  from 5 April 2024 
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Cr Cath Tonks - Division 9 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

14.7.23 $806
Pine Rivers Croquet Club 
Incorporated 

Purchase of tables and chair hire 
for Queensland 2023 State Gateball 
Tournament 

21.7.23 $714
Pine Rivers Croquet Club 
Incorporated 

Oven including installation 

21.7.23 $2,000
Rotary Club of Albany 
Creek Incorporated 

Installation of Happy to Chat 
Community Bench in Sargent 
Reserve Dog Park 

24.7.23 $500
Pine Rivers Show - Annual 
Agricultural Horticultural & 
Industrial Association

Prizes for woodchopping event at 
the Pine Rivers Show 

27.7.23 $200
Genesis Christian College 
Limited 

Event décor, speaker fees and 
marketing for Youth Sports Stars 
Breakfast

27.7.23 $500
Eatons Hill Community 
Kindergarten Incorporated

NAIDOC Week Celebrations - 
Aboriginal Art Workshops

7.8.23 $1,500
The Nest Community 
Incorporated 

Sewing drawer units, sew tables 
and shelving units for The Exchange 
Program

8.8.23 $500
Moreton Bay United 
Football Club 

Temporary filming tower for 
Australia FFA Cup game

9.8.23 $250
Zonta Club of Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Cinema hire and screen licence for 16 
Days of Activism movie screening 

15.8.23 $792
Albany Creek State High 
School P&C Association 

Colour Powder for school's Colour 
Explosion Fun Run

21.8.23 $425
Albany Creek Cluster 
Chaplaincy Committee

Prizes for Community Trivia Night

21.8.23 $1,500
Eatons Hill State School 
P&C Association 

Fireworks at annual school carnival 

23.8.23 $400
The Queensland Country 
Women's Association 

Keynote speaker for Queensland 
Country Women's Association 
Southern Region Conference

1.9.23 $200
Genesis Christian College 
Limited 

Environmental Awards for Middle 
and Senior School 

11.9.23 $100
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

14.9.23 $200
PRIME Community Band 
Incorporated

Performance props, music, and 
advertising banner to for band 
performances

18.9.23 $350 Bray Park State High School
Bursary awards for Academic and 
Sports Awards Night

20.9.23 $200
Lawnton Swim Club 
Incorporated

Dunk tank hire for Aussie Arvo event 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

20.9.23 $250
Lawnton Swim Club 
Incorporated

Commercial barbeque

20.9.23 $333
Pine Rivers Municipal Brass 
Band Incorporated 

Stage hire for Pine Rivers Municipal 
Brass Band Concert 

21.9.23 $100
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

21.9.23 $650
Albany Creek Garden Club 
Incorporated 

Awards for 2023 Show Bench 
Winners 

27.9.23 $100
Strathpine Branch 
Little Athletics Centre 
Incorporated 

iPad, Printer and trivia night prizes 

28.9.23 $500 Oikotan Incorporated
Venue hire, decorations, and lighting 
for Durga Pujo Festival 

5.10.23 $500
Albany Creek GPS Junior 
Rugby Union Club Inc 

Fireworks for 2023 Club Presentation 
Day

25.10.23 $150
Men's Information and 
Support Association 
Incorporated

Catering and venue hire for 
International Men's Day panel 
discussion

25.10.23 $350
Eatons Hill Community 
Kindergarten

Educational presentation on native 
bees and new native beehive

26.10.23 $300
The Railway Modellers' 
Club of Queensland 
Incorporated

Hall hire for the 2023 Pine Rivers 
Model Train & Hobby Expo

13.11.23 $150
Good Shepherd Christian 
School

Prizes for Student Impact Award 

16.11.23 $200
 Oasis Christian Reformed 
Church

Christmas dinner and hampers for 
community members in need

17.11.23 $150 Wantima Country Club
Trophies for the Veteran Golfers end 
of season awards

23.11.23 $850
Samford Riding for the 
Disabled

Sponsorship' (provision of food, 
veterinary and farrier costs) of RDA 
horse 'Noddy'

7.12.23 $100
Crime Stoppers 
Queensland Limited

Food supplies for Bunnings sausage 
sizzle fundraiser

13.12.23 $500
Wantima Country Club 
Limited 

Wantima Country Club 39th Birthday 
Ladies Guest Open Day

14.12.23 $200
Samford District Bowls Club 
Incorporated 

Prizes for Village Bowls and Mens 
Veterans Fraternity League
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

15.4.24 $255
Good Shepherd Christian 
School Limited

Food items for Cross Country and 
Fun Run event 

22.4.24 $400
Albany Creek State School 
P&C Association

Prizes for school Colour Fun Run 

24.4.24 $1,000
Pine Rivers Koala Care 
Association Incorporated 

Wild Koala Day 2024

17.5.24 $448 A Brave Life Limited 
Computer monitor, keyboard and 
mouse for volunteer use 

20.5.24 $500
Creative Samford 
Incorporated 

Promotional banner flags and 
videos for the Samford and 
Surrounds Art Trail

22.5.24 $1,000
Pine Rivers St Andrews 
Hockey Club Incorporated 

Chairs for clubhouse 

23.5.24 $300
Samford and District Show 
Society Incorporated 

Prizes and material for display 
tablecloths for the Samford Show

29.5.24 $745
Albany Creek Kindergarten 
Association Incorporated

Hall hire and disco for Kindergarten 
Dance Party

29.5.24 $332
Pine Rivers Municipal Brass 
Band Incorporated 

Stage hire for Pine Rivers Brass Band 
Concert 

11.6.24 $710
Albany Creek Garden Club 
Incorporated 

Awards for 2024 Show Bench winners

Cr Matt Constance - Division 10 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

17.7.23 $1,896 Pine Hills Dirt Racing Audio amplifier and speakers

9.8.23 $150
Zonta Club of Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Cinema hire and screen licence for 16 
Days of Activism movie screening 

15.8.23 $300
Albany Creek State  
High School

Environmental Bursary Awards

15.8.23 $792
Albany Creek State High 
School P&C Association 

Colour Powder for school's Colour 
Explosion Fun Run

15.8.23 $819
The Hills District 
Community Garden 
Incorporated 

Building supplies to renovate 
existing trellis

21.8.23 $425
Albany Creek Cluster 
Chaplaincy Committee

Prizes for Community Trivia Night
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

11.9.23 $100
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

19.9.23 $750
C&K Arlington Drive 
Community Childcare

Couches for staffroom

21.9.23 $100
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

31.10.23 $1,500 Pine Hills Football Club 
Purchase and installation  
of awnings 

8.11.23

$1,250 
$2,000 allocated 
however $750 
returned

Golden Valley Keperra Lions 
Clubs Incorporated 

Sound and lighting for The Hills 
Community Christmas Carols 2023

11.12.23 $1,732 VIEW Clubs of Australia
Laptop and associated equipment 
and business shoulder bag 

13.12.23 $1,251
The Hills & Districts 
Chamber of Commerce 
Incorporated

Portable PA system and outdoor 
banners for The Hills Chamber 
Seniors Expo 2024

14.12.23 $500
Samford District Bowls Club 
Incorporated 

Prizes for Village Bowls and Mens 
Veterans Fraternity League

8.5.24 $2,000
Ferny Hills State School P&C 
Association 

Movie equipment, licence fee and 
entertainment for Community Movie 
Night 

20.5.24 $500
Creative Samford 
Incorporated 

Promotional banner flags and 
videos for the Samford and 
Surrounds Art Trail

23.5.24 $395
Samford and District Show 
Society Incorporated 

Prizes and material for display 
tablecloths for the Samford Show

10.6.24 $1,958
Ferny Hills Tennis Club 
Incorporated

Laptop and printer

11.6.24 $325
Albany Creek Garden Club 
Incorporated 

Awards for 2024 Show Bench winners

98



99

Cr Darren Grimwade - Division 11 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

17.7.23 $515
Mount Glorious Community 
Association Incorporated 

Poster design and printing, and food 
for Mid-Winter live music community 
fundraising event

17.7.23

$929.19 
$1,455 allocated 
however $525.81 
returned

Mount Glorious Community 
Association Incorporated 

Advertising, stationery, and cold 
room hire for the 2023 Art with 
Altitude exhibition

3.8.23 $1,925
Jinibara State School  
P&C Association 

Gazebo, lighting, and portable cold 
storage for community movie night 

9.8.23 $100
Zonta Club of Pine Rivers 
Incorporated 

Cinema hire and screen licence for 16 
Days of Activism movie screening 

29.8.23 $2,000
Samford Amateur 
Swimming Club 
Incorporated 

Catering, advertising, flyers, and 
novelty bags for 'Come and Try' 
afternoon at Samford Pool 

30.8.23 $1,925
Samford Primary  
P&C Association

Projector screen and associated 
equipment for Movie Night Under 
the Stars  

11.9.23 $200
Multicultural Association of 
Caboolture and Surrounds 
Incorporated

Event hire for Moreton Bay Diwali 
Festival of Lights 2023

21.9.23 $100
The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Incorporated 

Section flags and promotional 
banners, a-frames and corflute signs

25.10.23 $2,000

The Scout Association 
of Australia Queensland 
Branch Inc. - Samford Scout 
Group

Child safety fence project

23.11.23 $850
Samford Riding for  
the Disabled

Sponsorship' (provision of food, 
veterinary and farrier costs) of RDA 
horse 'Noddy'

29.11.23 $790
Dayboro District Progress 
Association Incorporated

Facepainting and jumping castle for 
Swaggies Christmas event

29.11.23 $2,000
Mount Nebo State School P 
& C Association

Movie and screen for Movie on the 
Oval community event

6.12.23 $797.50
The Mini Farm Project 
Limited

Whipper snipper, cold room and 
food products for food production as 
part of the Mini Farm Project

6.12.23 $2,000
Dayboro State School 
Parents & Citizens 
Association

Catering, games and prizes for 
Family Fun Day

30.4.24 $2,000
Dayboro District Progress 
Association Incorporated 

Marquees for Dayboro Day Festival 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

2.5.24 $2,000 Dayboro Rodeo Association 
Entertainment for the 2024 Dayboro 
Rodeo

23.5.24 $300
Samford and District Show 
Society Incorporated 

Prizes and material for display 
tablecloths for the Samford Show

19.6.24 $1,778
Pacific Rim Just for Kids 
Incorporated 

Branded marquee

Cr Tony Latter - Division 12 

Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

19.7.23 $1,010
Woodford Historical Society 
Incorporated 

Catering and printing for the 2023 
Villeneuve Neurum Reunion

25.7.23 $244 Crime Stoppers Caboolture Shelving for storage shed

9.8.23

$490 
$893 allocated 
however $403 
returned

Wamuran Progress 
Association Incorporated 

Equipment hire for Community 
Remembrance Day Ceremony

23.8.23 $2,000
Stanley River Junior Rugby 
League Club Incorporated 

End of season presentation day 

30.8.23 $1,550
Mount Mee State School 
Parents and Citizens 
Association

Hall hire, food supplies, drinks, band 
and prizes for the 2023 Mount Mee 
Bush Dance

19.9.23 $2,000
Woodford Community  
Art Group

Prizes, gift and catering for Members 
Exhibition Competition

9.10.23 $1,998
Wamuran Historical 
and Visitors Centre 
Incorporated

Sound technician, PA equipment 
hire and performers for community 
fundraising event 

14.11.23 $1,070
Wamuran Progress 
Association Incorporated 

Printing of book on the National 
Servicemen's Memorial Park in 
Wamuran

22.11.23 $744 Woodford Historical Society
Gift bags for children attending 
Yarrow Launch at Woodford Library 
and Museum 
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Date Allocated Amount Allocated Recipient Purpose of Funding 

22.11.23 $2,000 Woodfordia Incorporated
Commission of artist art mural at 
the Woodford Folk Festival site

29.11.23 $1,538
The Scout Association of 
Australia Qld Branch Inc - 
Woodford Scout Group

Promotional banners and poles 

12.12.23 $1,610
Caboolture Sports Club 
Limited 

Hire of inflatables for use at 
Caboolture Rugby Community Day 
and Sign On

13.5.24 $1,000
Bellthorpe Progress 
Association Incorporated 

Entertainment and catering for the 
Bush Dance and Supper 

29.5.24 $2,000
Burpengary Meadows 
State School P&C

Design digital artwork and purchase 
of mascot costume 

12.6.24 $1,500
Woodford Agricultural 
Pastoral and Industrial 
Assoc. Incorporated

Wildlife Education Program at 2024 
Woodford Show

12.6.24 $955.50 Cartmill Community Centre
Mobile phone, cleaning equipment, 
petrol mower, whipper snipper and 
electric fence energiser
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ACCOUNTABILITY 
In accordance with section 289(1) and (2) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 the Chief 
Executive Officer must maintain a Register of Interests pertaining to Councillors, Senior Executive 
Employees and a person who is related to a Councillor or Senior Executive Employee.

The Mayor must maintain a Register of Interests of the Chief Executive Officer; and a person who 
is related to the Chief Executive Officer.

In accordance with section 150EL of the Local Government Act 2009, Councillors must declare any 
prescribed conflicts of interest in matters brought before Council and leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed and voted on.

In accordance with section150EQ of the Local Government Act 2009, Councillors must also 
disclose any declarable conflicts of interest in matters brought before Council. The Councillor 
must inform the meeting stating the nature of the conflict and how the Councillor intends to deal 
with the conflict, by leaving or remaining in the meeting.

Under the Local Government Regulation 2012, Councillors and senior executive employees, and 
their related persons must declare any gift, or all gifts totaling more than $500 in amount or 
value in their respective Register of Interests.

The Register of Interests for each Councillor can be accessed via Council’s website.

OUR ETHICAL CULTURE 
In accordance with section 23 of the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 the Chief Executive Officer of a 
public sector entity must ensure that the administrative procedures and management practices 
of the entity have proper regard to (a) this Act in particular, the ethics principles and values; and 
(b) the entity’s approved code of conduct.

Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees clarifies the organisation’s values linking them with the 
required standards of behaviour expected of its senior executives and employees when carrying 
out their roles, responsibilities and obligations. The code is aligned to the standards of conduct 
based on the ethics principles and values in the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994. 

Code of conduct eLearning training is mandatory for all new employees and an annual refresher 
is required for all existing employees.

The Code can be accessed via Council’s website or a copy can be obtained from any of Council’s 
customer service centres.
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FRAUD AND CORRUPTION CONTROL 
Council has a zero-tolerance approach to fraud and corruption. This commitment is underpinned 
by our Fraud and Corruption Control Policy and Plan, which outlines operational controls and 
processes to detect, investigate and take appropriate action in cases of suspected or proven 
fraud or corruption.

Council’s Public Interest Disclosure Policy also supports this culture and encourages employees 
and members of the public to speak up about unlawful, unethical and irresponsible behaviour 
within Council.

Council employees are encouraged to report fraud and corruption and are aware of how 
they can do this in a safe and confidential environment. Council maintains an independent 
whistleblower hotline (Your Call) to encourage reporting and safeguard those who report.

COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY COMPLAINTS 
Council maintains a process for resolving competitive neutrality complaints. When Council 
receives a complaint, attempts are made to resolve the concerns prior to a formal complaint 
being made. Concerns that cannot be resolved may become a formal complaint that will be 
referred to the Queensland Competition Authority for investigation.

In accordance with section 190(1)(i) and (j) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, there were 
no competitive neutrality complaints for Council’s business activities subject to the Code of 
Competitive Conduct during the 2023-24 financial year.

ADMINISTRATIVE ACTION COMPLAINTS 
Council is committed to handling administrative action complaints in a consistent, fair, equitable, 
confidential and respectful manner as outlined in its Complaint Management Policy.

This policy is supported by internal procedures which outline a clear administrative process 
for managing and resolving complaints made by community members about various issues, 
including:

•	 a decision, or failure to make a decision

•	 an act, or failure to do an act

•	 the formulation of proposal or intention

•	 the making of a recommendation.

Council has three-stage complaint management process. In stage one and two, attempts are 
made to resolve the complaint at the first point of contact, then with the support of the relevant 
Council Department. In stage three, if the complaint is not resolved or the complainant remains 
dissatisfied, an internal review may be requested and undertaken by the Governance Branch to 
provide independence to the process. If the complainant still remains dissatisfied with Council’s 
response, they can request an external review by the Queensland Ombudsman.  
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In accordance with section 187(2) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 , 
the table below summarises the number of administrative action complaints made 
 and resolved during the 2023-24 financial year.

COUNCIL REGISTERS 
In accordance with section 190(1)(f) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, Council maintains 
the following registers:

•	 Register of Local Laws

•	 Register of Assets

•	 Register of Roads Map

•	 Register of Business Activities

•	 Register of Cost-Recovery Fees

•	 Register of Delegations - Mayor

•	 Register of Delegations - Council to Chief Executive Officer

•	 Register of Delegations - Chief Executive Officer to Employees

•	 Registers of Interests - Mayor, Councillors, Senior Executive Officers, and related persons

•	 Register of Conflicts of Interest - Mayor, Councillors, Senior Executive Officers and employees

•	 Register of Councillor Conduct

•	 Register of Contact with Lobbyists

•	 Register of Gifts and Benefits

•	 Register of Policies

•	 Register of Pre-Qualified Suppliers.

Administrative Action Complaints 2023/24

Number of complaints received and resolved at stage 1 and 2 in the financial year Not Reported*

Number of complaints made as stage 3 in the financial year 33

Number of complaints resolved as stage 3 in the financial year 37

Number of unresolved stage 3 complaints at the end of the financial year 8

Number of unresolved stage 3 complaints made in the previous  
financial year

0

* Council is currently working to improve the data quality of its complaint records for future year reporting.
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JOINT GOVERNMENT ACTIVITY AND  
REGIONAL COOPERATION 
In accordance with section 190(1)(d) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, there were no 
details to report in regard to a service, facility or activity supplied by another local government 
(under an agreement for conducting a joint government activity), where special rates or charges 
were levied in the 2023-24 financial year. 

However, Council did conduct the following joint government activities funded under the 
Environmental Services operational budget:

Brisbane City Council Brisbane City Council Department of Agriculture Fisheries & Forestry 

2023/24 Contribution 
for regional hosting 
for LFWSEQ

2023/24 Contribution 
for Biological Control 
Program 

Contribution for Weeds and Pest Animal 
Program

$30,589.27 (ex GST) $3,147.00 (ex GST) $134,353 (GST does not apply)

Council also fosters regional cooperation on issues affecting local government and the South 
East Queensland region. In support of this commitment, the Mayor, Councillors, Senior Executive 
Officers and Council employees attend relevant conferences and events and meet with other 
local authorities and government agencies as part of their duties.
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POLICIES

RATES CONCESSIONS
Council offers a range of rates concessions in support of a fair and equitable rates system. In 
considering the application of concessions, Council is guided by the principles of: 

•	 Equity – acknowledging the different levels of capacity to pay

•	 Accountability – making decisions and acknowledging the effects of those decisions

•	 Transparency – making clear the availability of concessions and eligibility requirements

•	 Flexibility – responding where possible to unforeseen changes in the local economy

•	 Fairness – taking into consideration the circumstances that lead up to the application  
for a concession

•	 Sustainability – long-term planning to ensure the financial sustainability of concessions.

During the 2023-24 financial year, Council exercised its power to grant a concession for rates or 
charges under the Local Government Regulation 2012, Chapter 4, Part 10 - Concessions, in the 
following ways:

Council Pensioner Rebate 
Subject to the eligibility criteria, property owners in receipt of a pension were entitled to receive 
a partial rebate from Council on their general rate and charges levied on the land in the amount 
equivalent to 50 percent of the total levy up to the maximum rebate per annum, granted on a 
quarterly pro-rata basis, as outlined in Council’s Revenue Statement 2023-24.

Council Self-Funded Retiree Rebate 
Subject to the eligibility criteria, property owners in receipt of a Commonwealth Seniors Health 
Card were entitled to receive a rebate from Council on their general rate and charges levied, 
granted on a quarterly pro-rata basis, as outlined in Council’s Revenue Statement 2023-24.

Financial Hardship Concession 
Subject to eligibility criteria, property owners experiencing financial hardship were entitled 
to apply for an interest free repayment plan for general rates and charges levied on eligible 
properties in accordance with Council’s Financial Hardship Policy. 
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State Government Subsidy 
Subject to the eligibility criteria, property owners in receipt of a pension were entitled to a partial 
rebate on their general rate and charges levied on the land in the amount prescribed under the 
Queensland Government Pensioner Rate Subsidy Scheme.

Voluntary Conservation Agreements 
Council offered a partial rebate to property owners who entered into a Voluntary Conservation 
Agreement in accordance with Council’s Voluntary Conservation Program.

Community Organisations 
Council offered a rebate to community organisations towards rates and charges levied by Council 
and Unitywater in accordance with Council’s Donations in Lieu of Rates and Charges Levied Policy.

SPECIAL CHARGES
In accordance with section 94(1)(b)(i) of the Local Government Act 2009, Council levied a number 
of special charges for the 2023-24 financial year. A summary of special charges is provided below.

Further information on the special charges for the 2023-24 financial year is available in Council’s 
budget, accessible via Council’s website. 

Rural Fire Brigade Special Charge 
Council made and levied the Rural Fire Brigade Special Charge on all rateable land within the 
Moreton Bay City Council local government area identified by the gazetted Rural Fire Board area 
maps for those rural fire boards listed below:

Rural fire boards:

•	 Booroobin Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Bellthorpe Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Clear Mountain Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Closeburn/Cedar Creek Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Dayboro and District Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Delaney’s Creek Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Donnybrook Town Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Elimbah Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Meldale Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Mount Mee Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Mount Nebo Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Narangba West Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Ocean View Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Rocksberg-Moorina Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Samford Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Samsonvale Rural Fire Brigade
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•	 Stanmore District Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Stony Creek Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Toorbul Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Villeneuve Neurum (part)  
Rural Fire Brigade

•	 Wamuran Rural Fire Brigade

The special charge raised $271,811 in the 2023-24 financial year to assist with the costs associated 
with maintaining a rural fire service in these areas.

Rural Recycling and Waste Management Special Charge 
Council made and levied the Rural Recycling and Waste Management Special Charge on 
rateable land that is used, at least partially, for residential purposes and which is improved land 
not being subject to a waste management utility charge. The purpose of this charge is to assist 
in meeting the costs associated with the provision and management of recycling and waste 
disposal facilities.

The special charge raised $127,135 in the 2023-24 financial year.

Commercial Waste Management Special Charge 
Council made and levied the Commercial Waste Management Special Charge on rateable 
land that is used for commercial purposes and which was improved land not subject to a 
waste management utility charge. The purpose of this charge is to assist in meeting the costs 
associated with the provision and management of waste disposal facilities.

The special charge raised $403,828 in the 2023-24 financial year.

North Lakes Enhanced Services Special Charge 
Council made and levied the North Lakes Enhanced Services Special Charge on all rateable land 
within the suburb of North Lakes. The parks, public areas, road reserves, street furniture and park 
infrastructure in this area require higher maintenance levels than comparable facilities across the 
region due to the type, quality and number of facilities provided.

The special charge raised $1,056,355 in the 2023-24 financial year for the cost  
associated with the provision of this higher level of maintenance.

Newport Canal Maintenance Special Charge
Council made and levied the Newport Canal Maintenance Special Charge on rateable land 
applicable for the purpose of funding works for preserving, maintaining and keeping clean and 
navigable the canals at Newport Waterways.

The special charge applied to properties in the suburb of Newport with canal frontage. This area 
included lots in community titles schemes where the scheme land has canal frontage, and the 
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whole of the Newport Waterways Marina complex which is on multiple titles but is a single canal-
front entity in terms of land use.

The special charge raised $1,360,290 with $51,996 being spent in the 2023-24 financial year.

Pacific Harbour Canal Maintenance Special Charge
Council made and levied the Pacific Harbour Canal Maintenance Special Charge on the rateable 
land applicable for the purpose of funding works for preserving, maintaining and keeping clean 
and navigable the canals and associated public infrastructure at Pacific Harbour.

The special charge applied to properties in the Pacific Harbour estate with canal frontage. This 
includes lots in a community titles scheme where the scheme land has canal frontage, and the 
whole of the Pacific Harbour Marina complex. The whole area is precisely delineated on a map 
prepared and adopted by the council for this purpose.

The special charge raised $301,823 with $98,146 being spent in the 2023-24 financial year.

Bribie Gardens Canal Maintenance Special Charge
Council made and levied the Bribie Gardens Canal Maintenance Special Charge on the rateable 
land applicable for the purpose of funding works for preserving, maintaining and keeping clean 
and navigable the canals and preserving and maintaining the lock and weir at Bribie Gardens.

The special charge applied to properties in the Bribie Gardens estate with canal frontage 
regardless of whether they are located in front of or behind the lock and weir. To avoid confusion, 
this included lots in community titles schemes where the scheme land has canal frontage. The 
whole area is precisely delineated on a map prepared and adopted by the Council for this 
purpose.

The special charge raised $305,418 with $322,540 being spent in the 2023-24 financial year.

Redcliffe Aerodrome Special Charge 
Council made and levied the Redcliffe Aerodrome Special Charge on the rateable land identified 
below for the purpose of funding works for the operation, maintenance, repair and upgrading of 
Redcliffe Aerodrome.

The special charge is levied on rateable properties comprising the leased private, business 
or commercial sites adjacent to Redcliffe Aerodrome. As the Redcliffe Aerodrome is not a 
commercial airport, the primary use of and benefit from the operation, maintenance and 
upgrading of the aerodrome is conferred upon the private air transport and aviation-related 
businesses which occupy premises within the aerodrome boundaries. The level of this special 
charge has been set by council to reflect sufficient and equitable contributions by these property 
owners to the cost of providing both operational and capital works and services at  
the aerodrome.

The special charge raised $309,696 in the 2023-24 financial year.
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BENEFICIAL ENTERPRISES 
In accordance with section 41 of the Local Government Act 2009, Council conducted one 
beneficial enterprise, being Millovate Pty Ltd, during the 2023-24 financial year.

Council established Millovate Pty Ltd in 2020 as a wholly owned commercial entity to lead the 
vision and development of Council’s strategic land holdings within The Mill at Moreton Bay 
PDA, Petrie. Council approved the transition of Millovate’s responsibilities  to Council’s Economic 
Development team in June 2024, to commence from September 2024. 

CHANGES TO TENDERS 
In accordance with section 228(8) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, there were no 
invitations to change tenders under during the 2023-24 financial year. 

Council decided, by resolution, to apply Chapter 6, Part 2 - Strategic Contracting Procedures of 
the Local Government Regulation to its contracts from 1 February 2024. From this date, section 228 
of the Regulation only applies for the disposal of land (or any part of an interest i.e. lease).

IDENTIFYING SIGNIFICANT BUSINESS ACTIVITIES 
In accordance with section 45(a) and (b) of the Local Government Act 2009, Council conducted 
the following business activities, including significant business activities during the 2023-24 
financial year:

•	 Bongaree Caravan Park

•	 Toorbul Caravan Park

•	 Bells Caravan Park

•	 Beachmere Caravan Park

•	 Morayfield Sport and Events Centre

•	 South Pine Indoor Sports Centre

•	 Queensland State Equestrian Centre

•	 Redcliffe Entertainment Centre

•	 Aquatic Facilities Operations 

•	 Cemetery Services

•	 Property Services

•	 Waste Services.

The business activity of Waste Services was identified as a significant business activity and the 
competitive neutrality principle was applied in the form of full-cost pricing. No other business 
activity was identified as a significant business activity for and during the financial year.
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THE COMMUNITY FINANCIAL 
REPORT for 2023-24
The purpose of the Community Financial Report is to provide residents and interested parties 
with a better understanding of Council's financial performance and position over the previous 
financial year.	

The financial information that is presented in the Community Financial Report is identical to 
Council's financial statements however it is presented in a simplified format so that members 
of the community are able to gain insights into how the Council's financial performance and 
position measure up at the end of the financial year.

The Community Financial Report uses plain language and pictorial aids such as graphs and 
tables to give readers an easy to follow summary of the financial statements for the past 
financial year. In addition, this report includes key financial statistics and ratios that can also be 
useful indicators of Council's performance and position.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The financial statements of Council are audited records of financial performance and position 
for a financial year (12 months). There are four statements that comprise what is termed "the 
financial statements", the statements are:

•	 Statement of Comprehensive Income
•	 Statement of Financial Position
•	 Statement of Changes in Equity
•	 Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Comprehensive Income
A statement detailing the income and expenditure of Council. This statement shows what Council 
has earned (Revenue) and what costs Council has incurred (Expenses) throughout the year.  This 
is presented on an 'accrual' basis, that is it records revenue when it is earned and expenses when 
they are incurred, regardless of when cash is received or payments of cash made.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 $’000

Operating Revenue

Rates and utility charges 402,823

Fees and charges 48,979

Grants, subsidies and contributions 7,313

Interest revenue 44,227

Other revenue 53,267

Share of profit of associate 96,564

Total Operating Revenue 653,173
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 $’000

Operating Expenses

Employee benefits (215,294)

Materials and services (240,340)

Depreciation and amortisation (156,507)

Finance costs (15,068)

Total Operating Expenses (627,209)

Operating Result 25,964

Capital Revenue and Expenses

Grants, subsidies and contributions	 195,326

Capital Income 797

Capital Expenses (30,518)

Capital Result 165,605

NET RESULT 191,569

Other Comprehensive Income (52,744)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 138,825

Sourcing our revenue: What it comprises
(Statement of Comprehensive Income)

Key Council's revenue sources include:

•	 Rates and Utility Charges - these are the "taxes" levied on property owners within the region. 
Each year, as part of the budget process, Council decides the rates and utility charges to be 
levied in the financial year.  The level of rates and utility charges that landowners must pay is 
at the sole discretion of Council.  

•	 Fees and Charges - Council generates a level of income through the charging of fees for 
services and some goods. The fees can vary from admission to an aquatic facility through to 
the payment of a hall hire fee. A key function of Council is the administration of a range of 
regulatory functions. These can vary from administering the development application process 
through to animal registrations. 

•	 Grants, Subsidies and Contributions - Council receives capital and operational grants 
and subsidies from Federal and State Governments which can be for general or specific 
purposes (grants to fund certain projects). Council also receives monetary and non-monetary 
contributions, typically from developers, in relation to the development activities occurring 
within the Council region. Non-monetary contributions are received in the form of gifted 
assets, such as roads, footpaths, drainage, and other community facilities handed over 
by developers after construction. Monetary contributions in the form of infrastructure 
contributions are paid to Council to assist in delivering essential infrastructure required for 
the future growth of the region.



$402.8m Rates and 
Utility Charges

48%

$49m Fees and 
Charges

6%
$44.2m Interest 

Revenue 
5%

$96.6m Value 
increase in Associate

11%

$202.6m Grants, 
Subsidies and 
Contributions

24%

$0.8m Capital Income
0%

$53.3m Other 
6%

Graph shows the breakdown for 2023-24

•	 Interest Revenue - revenue earned by Council on term deposits held with banks and interest 
payments Unitywater pay to Council.  

•	 Other Revenue - is predominately tax payments received from Unitywater and other 
miscellaneous forms of revenue. 

•	 Share of Profit of Associate - is Council's portion of Unitywater’s annual net operating profit. 
This is a non-cash revenue source.

•	 Capital Income - asset revaluations that must be recorded separate to other comprehensive 
income - This is a non-cash income source.

•	 Other Comprehensive Income - is predominately increases in the value of Council’s 
infrastructure as a result of asset revaluations. This is a non-cash income source.

Sources of Revenue 
$849.3 million
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$215.3m Employee 
Expenses

33%

$240.3m Material and 
Services

36%

$156.5m Depreciation 
& Amortisation

24%

$15.1m Finance Costs
2%

$30.5m Capital 
Expenses

5%

The expenditure by type graph shows the various classifications of Council's expenditure 
incurred during 2023-24.

Identifying our expenses:  What it comprises
(Statement of Comprehensive Income)

Key Council's expense components are:

•	 Employee Expenses - These represent the total cost of staff employed in the delivery of Council 
services.  The costs are typically inclusive of items such as wages, superannuation, employee 
leave entitlements, training and other employee related expenses.  

•	 Materials and Services - These are the operating costs incurred for the purchase of materials 
or other services necessary to deliver Council services. 

•	 Depreciation and Amortisation - is recognised as a cost to Council and is measured as an 
estimate in the consumption of Council's asset base. This is a non-cash expense.

•	 Finance Costs - These are costs associated with interest on debt and banking fees. 

•	 Capital Expenses - These represent the value of assets replaced or disposed of throughout 
the year. 		

Expenditure by Type  
$657.7 million
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Statement of Financial Position
A statement detailing the assets and liabilities of Council. The statement measures what Council 
owns (Assets) and what Council owes (Liabilities). The difference between these two components 
is the net wealth (Equity) of Council and our community.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2024 $’000

Assets

Cash Balance 94,084

Other Current Assets 135,964

Non-Current Assets 9,403,766

Total Assets 9,633,814

Liabilities

Current Liabilities 158,435

Non-Current Liabilities 284,634

Total Liabilities 443,069

NET COMMUNITY ASSETS 9,190,745

Community Equity

Retained Surplus 6,930,156

Asset Revaluation Surplus 2,260,589

TOTAL COMMUNITY EQUITY 9,190,745
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Assets:  What the community owns
(Statement of Financial Position)

•	 Assets - Can be current or non-current.  Current assets are those that are readily available to 
meet expenses and mainly include cash and amounts owed by customers.  Non-current  
assets include property, plant and equipment, investment in associate (Unitywater) and  
financial investments. 	

The value of all assets Council owns totals $9.6 billion as at 30 June 2024.

The major classes of assets are shown in the graph below

What the community owns 
$9.6 billion

Liabilities: What the community owes
(Statement of Financial Position)

•	 Liabilities - Can be current or non-current. Liabilities mainly consist of loans, amounts owing 
to suppliers, amounts owing to employees for leave entitlement and future estimates to 
rehabilitate landfill sites administered by Council. Current liabilities are those amounts that 
are payable by Council within the next twelve months, and non-current liabilities are payable 
beyond the twelve month horizon.

Council's liabilities totalled $443.1 million as at  30 June 2024.

$96.5m Cash and 
Other Assets

1%
$761.1m Assets owed 

to Council
8%

$138.9m Investment 
with Queensland 

Investment 
Corporation

1%

$7.1 billion 
Infrastructure, Plant 

and Equipment
74%

$1.6 billion 
Investments 

16%
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What the community owes 
$443.1 million

$70.2m Money 
Council Owes

16%

$58m Monies prepaid 
to Council

13%
$229.9m Debt

52%

$40.9m Employee 
Leave Entitlements

9%

$44.1m Provision for 
Restoration and 

Infrastructure Offsets
10%
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Statement of Changes in Equity
A statement detailing the changes in equity of Council.  This statement details the movement in 
the net assets (Equity) of Council and shows the overall change in Council’s net wealth over  
the year.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2023 9,047,728

Add:  Net Result 191,569

Add: Other Comprehensive Income (52,744)

Add:  Increase to equity on the recognition of assets 4,192

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2024 9,190,745

Community equity
(Statement of Financial Position)

•	 Community Equity - Community equity (what the Council is worth) is measured as the net of 
Council’s assets less liabilities.

Council’s total community equity as at 30 June 2024 is $9.2 billion. Community equity consists of an 
asset revaluation surplus and retained surplus.

Breakdown of community equity 
$9.2 billion

$6.9 billion Retained 
Surplus

75%

$2.3 billion Asset 
Revaluation Surplus

25%

The graph shows the breakdown of community equity:
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Statement of Cash Flows
The statement of cash flows provides information on the cash inflows and outflows of Council, 
classified by different types of cash flow activities.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 $’000

Opening Cash Balance 104,975

Net cash flows from Operating Activities 144,701

Net cash flows from Investing Activities (115,131)

Net cash flows from Financing Activities (40,461)

Net decrease in cash held (10,891)

Cash at the end of the financial year 94,084

Cash:  what were the major inflows and outflows of cash?
(Statement of Cash Flows)

There are three types of activities that have an impact on cash balances:

•	 Cash flows from operating activities includes cash coming into Council (inflows) and cash 
going out of Council (outflows) from the day-to-day operations of Council.

•	 Cash flows from investing activities include outflows of cash when investing in term deposits 
and inflows of cash when term deposits mature and return to Council as well as payments 
for infrastructure works and the purchase of assets such as land, buildings, vehicles and 
equipment. Cash inflows can occur from Council selling assets (for example, land, plant and 
equipment).

•	 Cash flows from financing activities cash inflows of money Council borrows (loans) and cash 
outflows when Council repays the loans.

Council ended the year with $94.1m in cash. This is a stable cash position. Council holds a large 
portion of cash with various banks where it earns income through interest on term deposits.
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CASH HOLDINGS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023 $’000

Cash at beginning of the financial year  104,975 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash received from rates and utility charges  402,761 

Cash received from fees and charges  84,495 

Cash received from other revenue  13,893 

Cash received from interest earned  43,381 

Cash received from rent  4,800 

Cash received from operational grants and contributions  7,312 

Cash received from capital grants, subsidies, contributions  111,790 

Cash received from tax equivalents  12,420 

Cash used to pay employees and material and services  (524,102)

Cash used to pay interest on debt  (12,049)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  144,701 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash used to pay for property, plant and equipment  (259,366)

Cash from the sale of assets  3,286 

Cash received from dividends  35,898 

Cash net movement in investments  105,055 

Cash net movement in loans to community organisations  (4)

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities  (115,131)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash spent on the repayment of loans  (40,104)

Cash spent on the repayment of leases  (357)

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  (40,461)

Cash at end of the financial year  94,084 

The table below outlines the main sources of cash coming into Council and what cash is         
going out.
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RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
In a period of continued growth and expansion, responsible financial management is crucial 
for Council to provide key services and strike the balance between meeting the needs of the 
community today and providing a solid financial future for Moreton Bay.

Measures of Financial Sustainability
This Community Financial Report includes certain contextual measures and financial 
sustainability ratios used to demonstrate that the Council is operating in a prudent financial 
manner and ensuring the Council's long-term financial sustainability and viability.

2023-24 Actual Target Analysis

Council controlled 
revenue ratio

Council-controlled revenue 
is an indicator of a council's 
financial flexibility, ability to 
influence its operating income, 
and capacity to respond to 
unexpected financial shocks.

69.2% N/A

The higher the percentage the better, as this 
indicates Council has the financial flexibility 
to significantly influence its operating income, 
and the capacity to respond to unexpected 
financial shocks. It also indicates a strong rate 
base that can drive operating revenue and 
place Council in a position to rely less on external 
sources of financial support, for example 
Federal or State Government assistance.

Population growth ratio

Population growth is a key driver 
of a council's operating income, 
service needs, and infrastructure 
requirements into the future.

2.6% N/A

This ratio is provided by the Department of 
Housing, Local Government Planning and 
Public Works using the compound annual 
growth rate which offers a systematic 
approach to estimating the average 
population growth rate. As the ratio indicates 
the Moreton Bay region can expect to see 
strong continued population growth.

Operating surplus ratio

The operating surplus ratio 
is an indicator of the extent 
to which operating revenues 
generated cover operational 
expenses.  Any operating surplus 
would be available for capital 
funding or other purposes.

4.0%
Greater 
than 0% 

A positive ratio indicates that recurring 
operating revenue exceeds recurring 
operating expenses and this can facilitate 
utilising operating surpluses to assist 
in funding capital expenditure and 
reduce the reliance on borrowings.

Operating cash ratio

The operating cash ratio is a 
measure of a council's ability 
to cover its core operational 
expenses and generate a cash 
surplus excluding depreciation, 
amortisation, and finance costs.

29.8%
Greater 
than 0% 

The operating cash ratio is a measure of a 
Council's ability to cover its core operational 
expenses and generate a cash surplus excluding 
depreciation, amortisation, and finance costs. 
A positive operating cash ratio indicates that 
Council is generating good surplus cash from 
its core operations, which suggests that council 
has the ability to use these funds to assist in 
funding its capital expenditure requirements.
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2023-24 Actual Target Analysis

Unrestricted cash 
expense cover ratio

The unrestricted cash expense 
cover ratio is an indicator of the 
unconstrained liquidity available 
to a council to meet ongoing and 
emergent financial demands, 
which is a key component to 
solvency.  It represents the 
number of months a council 
can continue operating based 
on current monthly expenses.

1.95 months
Greater 
than 2 

months

The ratio is an indicator of the unconstrained 
liquidity available to Council to meet ongoing 
and emergent financial demands. It represents 
the number of months a Council can continue 
operating based on current monthly expenses. 
As indicated by the ratio Council has a ratio 
just below the target of 2 months available 
cash. Whilst under the target this does not 
place any undue financial pressure on Council.

Asset sustainability ratio

The asset sustainability ratio 
approximates the extent to 
which the infrastructure assets 
managed by a council are 
being replaced as they reach 
the end of their useful lives.

71.0%
Greater 

than 60%

Capital expenditure can broadly be classified 
as new (building something entirely new) 
or renewal (replacing an old asset with a 
new one). This ratio measures how much 
capital expenditure goes toward replacing 
existing assets each year when divided 
by depreciation expense. Council's ratio is 
exceeding the target of 60% or better and 
highlights that infrastructure assets are being 
replaced in an appropriate timeframe.

Asset consumption ratio

The asset consumption ratio 
approximates the extent to 
which council's infrastructure 
assets have been consumed 
compared to what is would cost 
to build a new asset with the 
same benefit to the community.

69.7%
Greater 

than 60% 

Council's ratio remains greater than the 
target of 60%. This means Council is replacing 
its assets at the earliest possible time whilst 
ensuring assets are not being run down 
to an unacceptable level of service.

Asset renewal funding ration

The asset renewal funding 
ratio measures the ability of 
a council to fund its projected 
infrastructure asset renewal/
replacements in the future.

81.4% N/A

This ratio is a contextual measure with the 
objective to be close to 100% (but not exceeding 
it). Ratios of 100% indicate that Council is 
appropriately funding and delivering the 
entirety of its required capital program as 
outlined in its asset management plans. 
Ratios below 100% can indicate the actual 
capital expenditure occurring is not meeting 
the targets as set by the asset management 
plans and infrastructure is not being 
replaced in a timely manner. As indicated 
by the ratio Council is currently at 81% which 
indicates work is required to ensure the 
delivery of infrastructure is in accordance 
with Council's asset management plans.

Leverage ratio

The leverage ratio is an indicator 
of a council's ability to repay its 
existing debt. It measures the 
relative size of the council’s debt 
to its operating performance.

1.2 times 0-4 times

As indicated by the ratio Council sits 
comfortably below the upper band limit of 
4 times. Low ratios indicate the Council is 
performing well operationally, can repay its 
existing debt and has the capacity to borrow 
additional funds without placing undue 
financial pressure on the organisation.

The targets indicated are recommended by the Department of Housing, Local Government, 
Planning and Public Works in accordance with the "Financial management (sustainability) 
guideline 2024'. The guideline is available from the Department's website.
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FINANCIAL SNAPSHOT
The financial snapshot table below compares key financial information at the end of the current 
reporting period with the previous reporting period.	

Further detailed information on Council’s financial performance and position can be obtained 
from the financial statements.

FEEDBACK
If you have any feedback or wish to contact us in relation to any of the information contained in 
this report, please send an email to council@moretonbay.qld.gov.au

2023-24
$

2022-23 
$

Net rate revenue 402.8m 374.7m

Fees and charges revenue 49m 40.4m

Total operating revenue  653.2m  610.1m 

Operating expenses  627.2m  568.3m

Operating result 26m 41.8m

Net Result 191.6m 211.4m

Total Assets 9.6b 9.6b

Total Liabilities 443.1m 506.9m

Total Equity  9.2b  9b 

Capital expenditure on assets 264.1m 265.6m

Cash on hand  94.1m  105m 

Council controlled revenue ratio					     69.2% 68.0%

Population growth ratio					     2.6% 1.6%

Operating surplus ratio 4.0% 6.9%

Operating cash ratio					     29.8% 31.4%

Unrestricted cash expense cover ratio 1.95 months 5.31 months

Asset sustainability ratio 71.0% 61.5%

Asset consumption ratio 69.7% 70.7%

Asset renewal funding ratio 81.4% 81.4%

Leverage ratio 1.2 times 1.4 times
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
The Audited financial statements for 2023-24.	
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To the councillors of Moreton Bay City Council 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of Moreton ay City Council (the council) 
and its controlled entities (the group). 

The financial report comprises the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2024, the 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including material 
accounting policy information and the certificate given by the Acting Mayor and Chief 
Executive Officer.  

In my opinion, the financial report:  

a) gives a true and  June 2024, 
and of their financial performance for the year then ended; and 

b) complies with the Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government Regulation 2012 and 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the  section of 
my report. 

I am independent of the council and the group in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Other information 

The councillors are responsible for the other information. 

year ended 30 June 2024, but does not include the financial report and 
thereon. 

the available other information in Moreton Bay City 
s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024 was the current year financial 

sustainability statement, current year financial sustainability statement - contextual ratios 
and long-term financial sustainability statement.  



 
 
My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. However, as required by the Local 
Government Regulation 2012, I have formed a separate opinion on the current year financial 
sustainability statement. 

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial report and my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the councillors for the financial report 

The councillors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Local Government Act 2009, the Local Government 
Regulation 2012 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the 
councillors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

The councillors are also responsible for assessing the  to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the council or to otherwise cease 
operations of the group. 

 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

l of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:  
https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf  

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  

In accordance with s. 40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2024: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required 

b) I consider that, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping 
of accounts were complied with in all material respects. 



 
 
Prescribed requirements scope 

The prescribed requirements for the establishment and keeping of accounts are contained in 
the Local Government Act 2009, any other Act and the Local Government Regulation 2012. 
The applicable requirements include those for keeping financial records that correctly record 
and explain the  transactions and account balances to enable the 
preparation of a true and fair financial report. 

 

 11 October 2024 
 
David Adams Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 
 
 







 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT  REPORT 

 
To the Councillors of Moreton Bay City Council 
 
Report on the Current-Year Financial Sustainability Statement 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying current year financial sustainability statement of Moreton 
Bay City Council for the year ended 30 June 2024, comprising the statement, explanatory 
notes, and the certificate of accuracy given by the Acting Mayor and the Chief Executive 
Officer. 

In accordance with s.212 of the Local Government Regulation 2012, in my opinion, in all 
material respects, the current year financial sustainability statement of Moreton Bay City 
Council for the year ended 30 June 2024 has been accurately calculated. 

Basis of opinion  

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the responsibilities for the audit of the current year financial 
sustainability statement section of my report.  

I am independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the statement in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-General Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Emphasis of matter  basis of accounting 

I draw attention to Note 1 which describes the basis of accounting. The current year financial 
sustainability statement has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management 
(Sustainability) Guideline 2024 for the purpose of fulfilling the c
responsibilities under the Local Government Regulation 2012. As a result, the statement 
may not be suitable for another purpose. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Other Information 

The councillors are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises 
year ended 30 June 2024 but does not include the financial sustainability statement and our 

.  

the available other information in Moreton Bay City 
Council  annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024 was the general-purpose financial 
statements, current-year financial sustainability statement - contextual ratios, and the long-
term financial sustainability statement. 



 

 

My opinion on the current year financial sustainability statement does not cover the other 
information and accordingly I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
However, as required by the Local Government Regulation 2012, I have formed a separate 
opinion on the general-purpose financial report. 

In connection with my audit of the financial sustainability statement, my responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial sustainability statement and my knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the councillors for the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

The councillors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the current year 
financial sustainability statement in accordance with the Local Government Regulation 2012. 
The councillors responsibility also includes such internal control as the councillors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the statement that is 
accurately calculated and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

udit of the current year financial sustainability 
statement 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the current year financial 
sustainability statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of this statement.  

My responsibility does not extend to forming an opinion on the appropriateness or relevance 
of the reported ratios, nor on the c  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of material accounting policy information used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the council. 



 

 

I communicate with the council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

11 October 2024 

                                                                                                                        

David Adams Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General  Brisbane 
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